
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 19 July, 2018

10.00 am

Darent Room - Sessions House





AGENDA

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

Thursday, 19 July, 2018, at 10.00 am Ask for: Theresa Grayell
Darent Room - Sessions House

Telephone 03000 416172
Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting 

Membership 

Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mrs T Dean, MBE (Vice-Chairman), Mrs T Carpenter, 
Mr G Cooke, Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunn, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, 
Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, Mr R Graves, Mr S Gray, Mr S Griffiths, Ms S Hamilton, 
Mrs S Hammond, Mr A Heather, Mr G Lymer, Ms C  Mutton, Mr M J Northey, 
Mrs S Prendergast, Ms N Sayer, Ms C Smith and Ms S Vaux

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

The Chairman will assume that all Members will read the reports before attending the 
meeting.  Officers are asked to assume the same when introducing reports.

The Chairman will open the meeting. The first item of business may be a motion to exclude 
the press and public for item 1, as set out below.

MOTION TO EXCLUDE PRESS AND PUBLIC FOR EXEMPT BUSINESS
That, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEMS
1 The views of Young People in Care (to be confirmed) 

When the agenda for this meeting was being published, it was unclear whether 
or not a party of young people would be available to attend the start of the 
meeting to speak to the Panel about their experiences of being in care.  If such a 
visit proves possible, the first part of the meeting will be closed to the public. 



If any change of circumstances is known before the date of the meeting, a 
revised agenda will be published.   

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open the public)

2 Apologies and substitutes 

3 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 1 June 2018 (Pages 5 - 18)

4 Chairman's Announcements 

5 Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 

6 Challenge Card update - Lifelong Links (Pages 19 - 22)

7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member (Pages 23 - 24)

8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care (Pages 25 - 34)

9 The National Fostering Stocktake - Foster Care in England:  a review for the 
Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers - February 2018, 
and the County Council's Fostering Service Business Plan, 2018 - 2019 (Pages 
35 - 62)

10 Report on the types of accommodation for Children in Care and Care Leavers 
(Pages 63 - 70)

EXEMPT ITEMS
(At the time of preparing the agenda, the only potential exempt item was item 1.  During any 

such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public)

Benjamin Watts
General Counsel
03000 416814

Wednesday, 11 July 2018

Please note that any background documents referred to in the accompanying papers 
maybe inspected by arrangement with the officer responsible for preparing the relevant 
report.



KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

MINUTES of a meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held in Darent Room - 
Sessions House on Friday, 1 June 2018.

PRESENT: Mrs A D Allen, MBE (Chairman), Mr I S Chittenden (Substitute for Mrs T 
Dean, MBE), Mr G Cooke, Ms N Cruickshank (Substitute for Mrs S Hammond), 
Mr T Doran, Ms S Dunstan, Mr D Farrell, Ms L Fisher, Mrs L Game, Mrs S Gent, 
Mr S Gray, Ms S Hamilton, Mr G Lymer, Mr M J Northey, Mrs S Prendergast and 
Ms C Smith

ALSO PRESENT: Mr R W Gough, Ms C Goodwin and Ms E Ewence

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr M Dunkley CBE (Corporate Director for Children Young 
People and Education) and Miss T A Grayell (Democratic Services Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

71. Introduction 

The Chairman opened the meeting and explained that the first part of the meeting 
would be attended by a party of young people who would address the Panel about 
their experiences of being in care and leaving care. 

72. Motion to exclude the Press and Public for Exempt Business 

It was RESOLVED that, under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following business on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
paragraphs 1 and 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

EXEMPT ITEM (open access to minutes)

73. The views of Young People in Care 
(Item 1)

1. A party of six young people aged between 9 and 19 attended the first part of 
the meeting to talk to the Panel about their experiences of being in care, particularly 
their experiences of the Lifelong Links project and their involvement with the OCYPC, 
Super Council and Young Adults Council. They are identified in these minutes by 
their initials: R (19), J (18), B (16), V (13), RB (10) and RM (9). They were 
accompanied by Jo Carpenter, VSK School Bursar and Project Officer, Chelsea 
Goodwin and Sophia Dunstan, VSK Apprentices.  

Everyone around the table introduced themselves. 

2. Chelsea introduced the session by explaining that the VSK Apprentices had 
hosted the launch of the Lifelong Links project on Friday 11 May. This project aimed 
to help children and young people in care up to the age of 16 to make links and find 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



supporters and friends who were happy to help them, for example (but not 
necessarily) from members of their birth family with whom they might have lost touch 
or not previously known.  The approach could come from either side and the link 
would continue for as long as the young person wanted it to.  The Lifelong Links 
project had received much good feedback from young people and support workers. 

3. B said he had been the first young person to take part in the Lifelong Links 
project. He said it was a great support for children in care who did not wish, or were 
not able, to return to their birth families but still wanted to keep contact with some 
family members. He said the response from the project had had been quick and 
helpful and that he had been able to direct at all times whom he wanted to contact 
and whom he did not.  The project had been designed to allow optimum input from 
young people. He had been able to contact his Dad and find a new section of his 
family tree, thus trebling the size of the family he knew.  His Dad’s side of the family 
had brought him new aunts and uncles, with whom he had now been in touch for the 
past few months. These new relatives now had a role in his life, alongside his foster 
family. In the project, the links and commitments being made were set out in writing 
and agreed by the young person and the other party.  B said that the tireless work of 
the Lifelong Links project team and the support of his foster family had made the 
project a good experience and a success for him.  

4. Chelsea added that many other young people in care could benefit in the 
same way. The OCYPC had committed to promoting the Lifelong Links project as an 
excellent way to support children and young people in care, and had presented it at 
the launch as a Challenge Card. Matt Dunkley had accepted this and would respond 
shortly.  Mr Dunkley added that B had spoken very well at the Lifelong Links project 
launch event and said that plans to take the project forward would be reported to the 
Panel, after first being shared with young people for their comments. Chelsea said 
she thought the Lifelong Links project should be extended to cover young people up 
to 18, to allow more flexibility for those who may feel ready to seek such links when 
they were slightly older, and that project could be helpful if a child wanted to trace 
their family in the future.  Mr Dunkley undertook to look into the costs of extending the 
project to the age of 18.  

5. The Chairman asked RB and RM what they would be doing at the Talent 
showcase in the afternoon of the Panel meeting.  RB said she enjoyed Morris 
dancing.  

6. R and J were both in Year 13 at school. R said he had two exams still to take 
and then planned to work with the VSK Participation team as a new Apprentice, once 
his DBS checks had gone through. He had spent a while working with the team in the 
summer of 2017 as a work experience student. J said she had seven exams still to 
take and then hoped to go to university in Newcastle in the autumn.  The Chairman 
said what good news this was and that more young people in care were now going 
on to university, whereas, a few years ago, this would have been more unusual. 
Asked about how she would finance her studies, J said she was as yet unsure of the 
details but understood Newcastle to have a bursary scheme so felt that she would be 
OK. Ms Smith explained that the County Council would shortly be embarking on a 
pilot of a guarantor scheme under which it would stand as guarantor for rental 
payments of privately-rented or university accommodation for care leavers. Mr 
Dunkley added that this scheme had grown out of a Challenge Card raised by the 

Page 6



Young Adult Council as a result of feedback from care leavers who had had trouble 
renting accommodation.    

7. Asked about how young people could be helped to find a way of 
communicating, Chelsea said that the MOMO (Mind Of My Own) app could be used 
by someone who was not confident of speaking face to face about their feelings and 
problems. MOMO offered a chance to post views and feelings as and when a young 
person felt able to and wanted to express them. 

8. In response to a question about the number of young people engaging with 
the VSK participation team, Jo explain that the team was currently working with more 
than 400 children in care and care leavers, some of whom might find it difficult to 
engage. The team would always work with as many young people as possible and 
would always seek to raise the profile of its work. 

9. RM said she liked going to the Super Council because she could make new 
friends there, have fun and build confidence. The group had cakes at their meetings 
and sometimes baked cakes, which was fun.  RB added that she also liked going 
there to meet new friends and because she did not feel like ‘the odd one out’ there as 
everyone else was also in care. There was lots to enjoy there, and the people were 
easy to talk too. RM added that she felt able to trust them. Both agreed that the 
Super Council was good for children in care who wanted somewhere they could 
express their feelings and take part in fun activities in the school holidays like other 
children. In the half-term holiday they had done some baking and been climbing at 
the Arethusa centre. They learned things from the activities they had done. The 
activities would vary depending on the season; they had made ‘mud pie’ chocolate 
puddings for Halloween and decorations for Christmas. The Chairman agreed that 
this sounded like a very good club to belong to.  Sophia advised the Panel that the 
Super Council, which was for children aged 7 to 11, encouraged children to chat 
about their views and opinions informally while they were enjoying an activity.  Their 
views would then be reported back to the Panel as part of the verbal update at each 
meeting. 

10. V talked about her involvement with the OCYPC, which was for children aged 
11 to 16. She said she had started there at 12, after attending the Super Council with 
her foster sister, RM.  She had been introduced to the MOMO app there, which was 
an excellent tool for children in care to use to express their views and feelings in a 
safe and comfortable way. The OCYPC did the same sort of activities as the Super 
Council but adjusted for a more mature audience. The meetings and activities were 
attended by fewer people but were still fun.  The Chairman said how helpful it was to 
have young people being part of these groups and feeding back their views and 
opinions to the Panel. 

11. R and J talked about their experience of attending the Young Adult Council.  
This aimed to help young people to develop the range of skills they would need when 
leaving care, including job interview skills, food budgeting and managing a 
household.  This Council was also involved in fundraising and submitting Challenge 
Cards to the Corporate Parenting Panel. Also, much pizza was consumed at 
meetings, which was very popular! 

12. RB told the Panel that when she was older she wanted to work with the VSK 
so she could help other children in care, as she knew what it was like.  RM said she 

Page 7



wanted to be a foster carer and work with younger children in care so she could help 
them know that people cared about them.  B said he wanted to go to university and 
then possibly train as a paramedic.  He said that he was not clear about the guidance 
available on the options open to care leavers.  Ms Smith explained that the County 
Council’s 18+ service worked with young people up to the age of 25 and covered 
advice on accommodation, including university accommodation, pathway planning 
and entitlements to benefits and support. It was suggested that the County Council 
could prepare an App which would contain all this information, which young people 
could log into and return to as and when they needed to. B was asked if he could 
make use of his IT skills to assist with this. Jo added that the ‘Kent Cares Town’ 
website would include interactive applications. Chelsea added that young people had 
had input into the design of that website to make sure it was user-friendly. 

13. V said she was not sure what she wanted to do in the future. Her GCSE 
courses included Psychology and Sociology and she was not yet sure in which 
direction this might lead her. It would be good to work with the VSK. 

14. The news of care leavers continuing their education at university and entering 
apprenticeships was warmly welcomed. The visitors were asked how the successes 
of young adults previously in care were tracked and celebrated so they could serve 
as examples of positive outcomes for children in care and the options available to 
care leavers. Mr Doran added that, although the VSK remit ended when a young 
person reached 18, the destinations of care leavers would be recorded and tracked. 

15. The young people were thanked for attending and telling the Panel about their 
views and experiences.  Panel members who attended the Lifelong Links launch 
event said it had been excellent and encouraged other Panel members to watch the 
video made by Lemn Sissay, which was shown there. This was available on 
YouTube and it was suggested that a link to it be included in the Panel minutes.    

16. The Chairman summed up by saying how proud she was of the young people 
who attended the Panel’s meetings to talk about their hopes, wishes and views. The 
Panel always enjoyed meeting young people and hearing their views at first hand and 
she thanked them for taking time in their half-term holiday to come to County Hall and 
meet the Panel.   

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS (meeting open to the press and public)

74. Chairman's Announcements 
(Item 5)

The Chairman announced that Elena Ewence was attending the open part of the 
meeting as she was spending the week shadowing Shellina Prendergast.  Elena was 
a sixth form pupil and the Co-Chairman of the Kent Youth County Council.

The Chairman also reminded the Panel that the VSK Talent Showcase would take 
place following the Panel meeting, at Sessions House.  The Panel and all Members 
of the County Council had been invited to attend. 

The Chairman referred to recent media coverage of an announcement made by the 
Children’s Minister about young people’s placements. 

Page 8



75. Membership 
(Item 2)

The Panel noted that: 

 Hazel Smith and Bethan Haskins had left the Panel as they had both left their 
respective CCGs.

 Sarah Vaux, Chief Nurse for Medway CCG, had joined the Panel in place of 
Bethan Haskins. 

 Since publishing the agenda, Carolyn Moody had resigned from the Panel 
after serving on it for several years as foster carer.  The Chairman referred to 
the outstanding contribution Carolyn had made to the work of the Panel and 
said she would write to Carolyn with the Panel’s thanks and best wishes for 
the future.

76. Apologies and substitutes 
(Item 3)

Apologies for absence had been received from Teresa Carpenter, Trudy Dean, Reece 
Graves, Stuart Griffiths, Sarah Hammond, Andy Heather, Chloe-Elizabeth Mutton, Nancy
Sayer and Sarah Vaux.

Reece Graves and Chloe-Elizabeth Mutton were busy with the final arrangements for the 
VSK talent showcase.

Ian Chittenden was present as a substitute for Trudy Dean, and Nikki Cruickshank for
Sarah Hammond.

77. Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 22 March 2018 
(Item 4)

It was RESOLVED that the minutes of the Panel meeting held on 22 March 2018 are 
correctly recorded and they be signed by the Chairman.

78. Verbal Update from Our Children and Young People's Council (OCYPC) 
(Item 6)

Chelsea Goodwin, VSK Apprentice, stayed on from agenda item 1 and took part in 
the remainder of the meeting. 

1. Ms Dunstan and Ms Goodwin gave a verbal update on the work of the 
OCYPC, the Super Council and Young Adult Council and forthcoming participation 
events. The text of the update would be attached to these minutes. They and Mr 
Doran then responded to comments and questions from the Panel, including the 
following:-

a) the methods used to promote the use of the MOMO app would follow what 
had been done previously to promote the use of the e.PEP system;

Page 9



b) young people in care who were in the youth custody system should be able 
to use MOMO as they could be given access to suitable devices on which 
to contact a support network. MOMO Express allowed a young person to 
log in on a youth worker’s account to access the system; 

c) MOMO was welcomed as an excellent tool which allowed young people in 
care to express views and feelings whenever and wherever they felt able 
to.  The model could be used by schools to support their pastoral care 
service and help young people to start to address issues around mental 
health; and

d) EDMODO was a safe way to contact other young people in care and was 
similar to Facebook but, unlike Facebook, could not be accessed by 
anyone outside a limited network of other young people in care. 

2. The Chairman thanked Ms Dunstan, Ms Goodwin and the other VSK 
apprentices for the invaluable contribution they made to the Panel with their frank, 
first-hand accounts of the issues which concerned young people in care and leaving 
care.

3.  It was RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks. 

79. Verbal Update by Cabinet Member 
(Item 7)

1. The Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education, Roger 
Gough, gave a verbal update on the following issues:-

Lifelong Links Conference – Mr Gough had opened this recent conference and Mr 
Dunkley had been the closing speaker.  Chelsea, Sophia and Reece had presented 
well  and spoken very effectively at the conference about the benefits of the Lifelong 
Links project. The project was being trialled by seven local authorities around the UK. 
Children’s Commissioner – there had been media coverage on the morning of the 
Panel meeting about the Children’s Commissioner having expressed concern about 
placement stability.  Kent’s rate of placement breakdown was roughly equal to the 
national average. In this and other subjects, in which Kent was measured against 
other authorities, Kent was always likely to record a higher number of cases due to its 
large geographical size and care population. The Commissioner had also expressed 
concern about other aspects of care stability. 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) update – the number of UASC 
arriving in Kent was very low, with only 44 having arrived so far this year. Only very 
small numbers were arriving at any one time. The National Transfer Scheme was 
unfortunately not working as well as had been hoped. Kent currently hosted 217 
under-18s and 881 care leavers, and the latter group was now causing the most 
concern in terms of resources.  Mr Gough had recently attended meetings with the 
Immigration Minister, Caroline Noakes at which they had discussed the costs of 
providing care leavers’ services for UASC when they reached 18. He had also visited 
the Millbank Centre with Mr Dunkley on 31 May. 

a) in response to a question about the number of children in care permanently 
excluded in Kent, Ms Smith explained that this rate had improved in the 
last twelve months, helped by the Sense of Belonging project; 

Page 10



b) Mr Dunkley suggested that a report on life stability, covering three aspects 
– stability of foster placement, of school placement and of social worker – 
be made to a future meeting of the Panel. He added, however, that some 
planned moves were very carefully made and that some moves were 
desirable and beneficial, for example, from a temporary to a permanent 
placement; and

c) in response to a question about UASC involvement in the OCYPC and 
other groups, Ms Dunstan explained that a few did come to the Super 
Council and some to the Young Adult Council.  It was good to have them 
included to help them to integrate and those who attended helped each 
other with language skills.   

2. It was RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted, with thanks, and that a 
report on life stability, covering three aspects – stability of foster placement, of 
school placement and of social worker – be made to a future meeting of the 
Panel.      

80. Performance scorecard for Children in Care 
(Item 8)

Mrs M Robinson, Management Information Service Manager, was in attendance for 
this item. 

1. Mrs Robinson introduced the report and explained that the Children’s 
Commissioner had asked local authorities for a voluntary submission of data and in 
return had undertaken to provide other national comparative data.  

2. The one change in the scorecard since last reporting it to the Panel was the 
number of returner interviews completed within 72 hours of a young person returning 
from being missing.  The overall completion rate for interviews was 88%, so was 
good; it was just the 72-hour deadline which was sometimes hard to meet as it was 
not always possible to meet up with a young person, or sometimes they simply did 
not wish to participate. 

3. Mrs Robinson, Mr Dunkley and Mr Doran responded to comments and 
questions from the Panel, including the following:-

a) the Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet Committee received 
more detailed reports setting out the reasons for any performance which 
had not met the target and what would be done to address this shortfall. Mr 
Dunkley offered to share this greater detail with the Panel; 

b) the opportunity to look at continuity of social worker placement in the ‘life 
stability’ item (suggested following the Cabinet Member’s verbal update) 
was welcomed; 

c) the opportunity to be able to make a more detailed comparison between 
Kent’s performance and that of other local authorities, by using the data to 
be supplied by the Children’ Commissioner, was also welcomed; and

Page 11



d)  in response to a question about the number of school exclusions of 
children in care, Mr Doran explained that exclusions were usually for a 
fixed-term only. There were currently no children permanent excluded.  
The number of temporary exclusions was monitored weekly and monthly, 
and had fallen slightly since the same time last year. If a pupil had multiple 
temporary exclusions, the reasons for this would be investigated and an 
action plan put together to address the issue. 

4. It was RESOLVED that the performance data in the scorecard, and the 
information given in response to comments and questions, be noted. 

81. Review and update of the Sufficiency, Placements and Commissioning 
Strategy - 2015-2018 
(Item 9)

Ms M L Hall, Commissioning Manager, Children Living Away From Home, was in 
attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Hall introduced the report and highlighted the changes made to the 
strategy since last reporting it to the Panel. 

2. It was RESOLVED that the progress against the strategy, and the plan to 
develop a new strategy for 2019 onwards, be noted

82. Revision of rates payable and charges levied for Children's Services in 
2018-19 
(Item 10)

1. Mr Dunkley introduced the report, which had previously been considered by 
the Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet Committee before the Cabinet 
Member had taken a key decision to approve the new rates and charges in March 
2018. The Chairman commented that the new rates would hopefully help to attract 
more foster carers.

2. It was RESOLVED that the decision taken by the Cabinet Member on 15 
March 2018 to revise the rates and charges with effect from 1 April 2018, as 
set out in the report to the Children’s, Young People and Education Cabinet 
Committee on 8 March 2018, be noted.  

83. Virtual School Kent validated summer 2017 results report 
(Item 11)

1. Mr Doran introduced the report and explained the difficulties of obtaining 
validated results for children in care, and the delay of approximately eight months 
between the exams having been taken and the results being validated.  The National 
Centre for Educational Research (NCER) was hoping to speed up the system so 
validated results could be available in the autumn of the year in which the exams had 
been taken.    

2. Much of Kent’s performance was above the national average and the 
attainment gap between children in care and their peers had narrowed. This 
performance was excellent, as approximately 36% of the cohort was made up of 

Page 12



UASC, some of whom had been in the UK only one year at the time they had taken 
the exams. One UASC who had been in the country two years had scored five A*s, 
including English and Maths, and some pupils attending special schools had scored 
four GCSEs.  The number of NEETs (young people not in education, employment or 
training) had fallen from 55%, when the VSK had started, to less than 14% now, 
although this cohort experienced peaks and troughs through the year, for example, at 
the end of the school year.  Mr Doran responded to comments and questions from 
the Panel, including the following:-

a) the excellent performance of children in care was welcomed, and the work 
done by the VSK to support them commended;

b) the Solihull approach and paired reading scheme had similar aims of 
supporting children’s reading age and academic attainment via joint 
working between parents, schools and other professionals.  This approach 
was welcomed and supported, as young people should be helped by 
whichever means possible to come to view reading as something to be 
enjoyed. This enjoyment could come from reading any material which 
interested them, and once they enjoyed reading, they would have a skill for 
life; and

c) asked about formal events to celebrate the achievements of children and 
young people in care, Mr Doran explained that these would continue to be 
held, as in previous years, and the dates of these would be supplied to the 
Panel, once known. He emphasised, however, that achievements 
continued to be celebrated throughout the year.      

3. It was RESOLVED that the impact of the Virtual School Kent, in relation to its 
performance, be welcomed. 

84. Corporate Parenting pilot scheme: Kent County Council acting as a 
guarantor for Care Leavers 
(Item 12)

1. Mr Dunkley and Ms Smith introduced the report and explained that a pilot 
scheme was to start shortly, for a period of twelve months, with a cohort of twelve 
young people.  This pilot scheme would allow an opportunity to test the risk element 
to the County Council and identify the likely costs associated with the scheme, which 
were expected to be lower than the costs of accommodating young people in other 
types of accommodation. 

2. Ms Dunstan added that the guarantor scheme offered excellent opportunities 
for young people who wished to rent privately to do so. Landlords generally did not 
view young people in care as being good potential tenants, but to discriminate 
against them because of their care status was simply not right. 

3. It was RESOLVED that the Challenge Card progress to date be noted and the 
details of the pilot of a guarantor scheme to inform a wider policy change be 
agreed.  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Friday 1st June 2018
Corporate Parenting Panel Update-

On behalf of the Children in Care Councils and Young Adult Council

The team has had a busy few months and has spent time working on the Lifelong Links Project that 
Chelsea has told you about.

We have also been recruiting for new apprentices and as well as Rob joining the team, we have had 
a work experience student working with us for 2 weeks who hopes to become an apprentice. The 
work experience has been great her as it has really given her an idea about what our job is all about  
and also what it is like when you enter the work of work.

OCYPC/Super Council Update:

Our 3 Children in Care Councils continue to develop and grow. But we have struggled in the past 
year to engage with young people in Thanet, they are happy to come along to activity days and 
events but were more reluctant to sign up join the councils. After a bit of investigating we found out 
that travel was one of the issues, so we decided to give the idea of a ‘local’ Children in Care Council a 
go again – this time with more success!

We first met up with a group of 17 young people aged from 7 to 16 on Thursday 12th April, and our 
newly East Kent Children in Care Council was formed!
This will initially be a joint meeting with our OCYPC & Super Council members, they decided to name 
themselves ‘OCYPC Extra!’

As well as getting to know each other and having some nice food and going bowling after the 
meeting, they also did some great work looking at the summary for young people of the 
Independent Fostering Review by the Department of Education. A
We wanted to get young people's comments on the Review’s recommendations in order to inform 
the Government response.

Below are their thoughts about the questions set out in the Summary for Young People.

What makes a good foster carer? 

- Someone who listens to young people and shows that they care.
- Someone who treats young people as part of their family; they are no different to other 

children.
- Child friendly.
- Some of the young people thought that it is better for foster carers to be younger as they 

are more relevant to them although others had lived with older but still very active foster 
carers.

- Able to take young people to places they need or want to go easily.

How do we encourage these people to become foster carers?

Page 15



- Make sure people know how rewarding it is when they see a foster child make progress in 
their care.

- Make sure people know that they are helping children who really need it.
- BUT they must know that it is hard work and that they need to be kind.

How do we match the right foster carer to the right child or young person?

- Time to visit potential foster carers; go to each other’s houses and have sleep overs before a 
final decision is made.

- A formal trial before the final decision.
- Young people have time to talk to the foster carer and tell them what they like.
- More effort by social workers to find out what children/young people and foster carers are 

really like so they can match carers with children/young people who have similar interests.  
For example, if a young people likes to go to lots of different clubs or has lots of hobbies, 
don’t place them with an older person or someone who won’t travel and take them.

- Foster child and foster carer passports / profiles with likes and dislikes, skills etc.

What kind of information would you want to know about your new foster carer? 
- Age.
- How active they are; what their hobbies are.
- Where they live, what their house and local area is like, what amenities are nearby.
- Their family and who the young person is likely to come into contact with regularly.
- Pets.
- Their past and their lives (the young people made the point that they have to share a huge 

amount of very personal information with their foster carers so they felt it was right that 
they also learn something about the people who will look after them).

What information would you want them to know about you?

- How the young person should be introduced; what they would like on the first day.
- Past experiences (This might help the foster carer be sensitive and avoid bringing up 

upsetting things from their past).  The young person should know what has been shared with 
their foster carers.

- Likes and dislikes e.g. food, bedroom.
- Fears and worries that might affect where the young person lives / in the home e.g. fear of 

dogs.

Who are the most important people in your life? How do you keep in touch with them? Are there 
any people that you want to be in touch with, but are not?

- Mum and dad
- Friends particularly if they live further away
- Brothers and Sisters including step brothers and sisters
- Grandparents

Page 16



- Neighbours
- Many of the young people said they saw everyone they wanted to during contact.

We met up again in this school holiday with our Children in Care Councils and will give you an update 
of these meetings at the next meeting.

Young Adult Council Update

YAC have been doing some great work with us looking at Stigmas around being in care and when you 
leave care. We have included their thoughts and insight into putting together this afternoon’s Talent 
showcase event.

Mind of My Own Conference 
On 16th May, some of the Participation Team including Reece, one of our Apprentices, travelled to 
Birmingham to attend the Mind of My Own Conference.  As we have told you previously, MOMO is 
an app designed to allow young people to communicate more easily with the professionals they 
work with anytime, anywhere, 24/7.  The Participation Team are currently training professionals in 
SCS to use MOMO and training sessions are being delivered around the county. The VSK apprentice’s 
role is to encourage young people to sign up and use the App.

The Conference was a fantastic opportunity to talk to representatives from some of the sixty Local 
Authorities that have implemented MOMO and hear good news stories about the positive impact 
MOMO has had on the young people using it. We also had the opportunity to attend several 
workshops which looked at successful implementation of MOMO promoting MOMO to young 
people, both of which were useful.  

We are excited to now try out some of the ideas shared at the Conference to further promote the 
use of MOMO by children in care and care leavers in Kent.

East Kent Girls Group Update 

The East Kent Girls group has now finished, and we have now evaluated the success of the project. 
The project was six weekly sessions run by VSK’s Participation Team in conjunction with Fostering, 
the LAC Nurses, a foster carer and The Health and Beauty Department at Canterbury College. 
The aim was to empower the participants and increase their self-esteem whilst also providing 
useable and practical information from various informative sessions. The programme provided a 
safe environment for the girls to share any worries or concerns. 

The participants also received a hair and beauty treatment each week. The target audience were 
girls in care from the Thanet area between the ages of twelve to seventeen, identified and selected 
by Management Information who were deemed to possibly be at risk of Child Sexual Exploitation, 
loneliness, NEET, or at risk of becoming NEET. 

Outcomes from the project were pretty positive. All the girls reported that their feelings of self-
esteem increased over the time of the project. As part of the evaluation, the girls were asked what 
they had gained or learnt from the programme.  Some of their responses were:

Page 17



                  Relaxation, to stay safe and manage my wellbeing. 
                  Better self-esteem. 
                  To drink alcohol safely.
                  To know how to stay safe around men. 
                  To check alcohol labels. 

It is our intention to run similar projects for girls at other colleges in other areas and explore the 
possibility of running a group for boys.  

Participation days and events over May Holidays

Arethusa Adventure Centre

Recruitment & Selection 

Revolution Skate Park

Don’t forget to come along this afternoon to our VSK Talent Showcase!! 
Lecture Theatre Sessions House 
Friday 1st June 2018: 2:30pm-4pm

Page 18



1.0 Introduction

1.1 Following the Lifelong Links launch on 11th May 2018, our apprentices issued a 
new Challenge Card to the Corporate Parenting Panel, on behalf of our children 
and young people councils. The Challenge was: ‘Having heard about the 
need for children and young people in care to feel as “connected” to their 
support network as others do in their families, how will you as their 
corporate parents give this opportunity to all children in care going 
forward?’

1.1 The criterion for Lifelong Links is to work with children and young people who 
have been in care less than 3 years, under the age of 16 with no plan to return 
to family or for adoption and identify a group of safe adults that can commit to 
offering permanent lifelong support.

1.2 The ‘family finding’ model in US or Lifelong Links approach in the UK is 
complemented by family group conferencing which gives a platform for the 
family to take the lead in decision making whist recognising and responding to 
agency agendas.

1.3 During the local launch for the 3-year pilot of Life Long Links in Kent, Matt 
Dunkley   agreed to the challenge card from our care leavers that all children in 
care should be offered this opportunity. The challenge was presented to 
members of the Corporate Parenting Panel on 1st June 2018. 

2.0 Summary of the data

2.1 At any one time there are approximately 300 children and young people across 
the county that meet the referral criteria. To date we have had 85 
children/young people identified by service managers and social workers 

From Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People 
and Education

To Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 July 2018

Subject Challenge Card Update - Lifelong links

Classification Unrestricted

Summary This report provides Members with an overview of progress 
made on the current challenge card which was presented to 
the Corporate Parenting Panel on 1st June 2018. 

Recommendation Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
the progress of the Lifelong Links and that, following the 
Challenge Card, it is confirmed that this is open to all Kent 
children and young people in care who meet the criteria.
  

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



across East and South Kent as being suitable for Lifelong Links and 35 
‘confirmed’ or active referrals. Lifelong Links in Kent is a 3-year pilot 
programme, which started in March 2017 and is funded by the Department of 
Education (DFE).  

2.2 The 3-year pilot has now extended to North and West Kent and is open to all 
children and young people who meet the criteria, including disabled children, 
unaccompanied asylum young people and young people in custody. 

2.3 It is too early in the 3-year trial to be able to identify with any accuracy how 
many children and young people will want to take up the offer, but preliminary 
data indicates that of the 85, 14% were later withdrawn by the Social Worker 
and 16% of children and young people declined the offer. The model and pace 
of the work is led by the child or young person and they must agree with the 
referral to Lifelong Links. 

2.4 As of 21st June 2018, there are currently 1,608 children and young people in 
care in Kent. If the evaluation supports preliminary data, then those meeting the 
criteria for Lifelong Links would be approximately 1,120 over the 3 years. (This 
number is an estimate, based on the first year and a more accurate estimate will be 
available at the end of year 2 of the pilot in March 2019.)

2.5 Children and young people are currently identified and referred by their social 
worker, through Child in Care reviews and statutory visits. Children and young 
people are also able to self-refer. There is a triage system to identify which 
referrals need to be made more urgently and prioritised. 

3.0 The Family Group Conference service

3.1 The family group conference service facilitates the work for Lifelong Links. 
The service currently has the capacity to achieve approximately 500 
conferences per year. This is predominantly an edge of care provision with a 
small cohort of rehabilitation family group conferences, missing family group 
conferences and other pieces of restorative practice. In addition, there are a 
small number of family group conferences being convened as part of the 
schools’ pilot in the East and adolescent pilot in the South. We are also 
trialling family group conferences for care leavers as part of the leaving care 
offer.

3.2 The Department for Education funding provides for 210 lifelong referrals over 
3 years and ends in March 2020.

3.3 If lifelong link family group conferences are to continue post end of the trial, 
capacity would need to be redirected from edge of care (children social work 
teams) to CYPS. The infrastructure to receive Lifelong Links referrals is 
already established via Liberi and additional ‘searching’ capacity can be 
achieved within existing business support as this role will be changing once 
data reporting from Liberi is up and running. Additional capacity for 
coordinating planning meetings etc could be achieved through the 
apprenticeship scheme.

Page 20



3.4 The benefit of utilising the family group conference service is to utilise the 
established skills of family group conferences coordinators in engaging 
children, young people and wider family and friends and the neutrality that the 
role offers in bringing together the partnership of professionals, family and 
friends.

4.0 The children and young people’s service (CYPS)

4.1 It is anticipated that post the 3 year pilot, children and young people will be 
given the opportunity of Lifelong Links much earlier in their care journey. 

4.2 The advantages of this will be that family and friends’ connections are more 
likely to be intact than when the child/young person has been in care for a 
longer period. Where a positive relationship has been established, the 
children in care social worker may be able to undertake the 
discovery/searching for connections as part of life-story work. 

4.3 Early indications from the pilot indicate that, for some children and young 
people, this is sufficient to inform their identity and they don’t want to proceed 
any further. It would be envisaged that this work might remain in the CYPS. 
However, it is unrealistic that, for more complex referrals, the children in care 
teams will have the capacity to undertake the work involved if the Lifelong 
Links model is not to be diluted and therefore referral to family group 
conference service will be required.

4.4 Since the challenge card Lifelong Links will also include a small pilot with 
Care Leavers to test the model with young people over the age of 18, as there 
is likely to be significant benefits to building their local network of support. 

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 Since the challenge card, the pilot for Lifelong Links is now in all areas of Kent 
and accessible to all children and young people who meet the criteria of 
having been in care less than 3 years, under the age of 16 and with no plan to 
return to family or for adoption. It is open to all our children in care and the 
pilot will now include a small number of Care Leavers. To achieve the 
challenge, there will need to be a commitment to continue the Lifelong Links 
model after the ending of the 3 years DFE funding in March 2020. This will be 
planned for in Year 3 of the pilot and is likely to be best achieved through 
extending the current life story work completed with children and using the 
model earlier with them, to enhance this work. 

6.0    Recommendations:
         Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the progress of the 

Lifelong Links and that, following the Challenge Card, it is confirmed that this is open to 
all Kent children and young people in care who meet the criteria.

Page 21



7.0   Background documents

None

8.0 Contact details

Report Author:
Caroline Smith
Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk 

   
Relevant Director:
Sarah Hammond
Director of Integrated Services (Children’s Social Work Lead) 
03000 411488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 22

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education.

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 July 2018

Subject: Verbal Update by the Cabinet Member 

Classification: Unrestricted

The Panel is invited to note verbal updates on the following issues:-

1. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) figures

2. Private Fostering Week 

3. Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) Conference 

4. Care Leaver Progression Partnership Conference

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



By: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People 
                                   and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young 
                                      People and  Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 July 2018

Subject: PERFORMANCE SCORECARD FOR CHILDREN IN CARE

Classification: Unrestricted

Electoral Divisions: All

Summary:

Recommendation:

The performance Scorecard for Children in Care identifies the key 
performance data and targets that need to be monitored to 
promote the best outcomes for children and young people looked 
after by Kent County Council. The latest performance Scorecard 
for May 2018 is attached to this report.  

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE 
and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care 
scorecard.

1. Introduction 

1.1 Performance scorecards have been developed to identify and monitor progress 
on a range of areas where improvements in performance and practice will lead 
to better outcomes for children and young people.

1.2 This report includes the latest Children in Care Scorecard which is for May 
2018.  

2. Context

2.1 The Children in Care Scorecard has been developed to provide the Corporate 
Parenting Panel with an overview of the key performance measures for 
Children in Care. 

2.2 The report is split into sections and includes a range of performance indicators 
and activity information. 

2.4 The Children in Care Scorecard is currently focused on information provided by 
Specialist Children’s Services.  It is intended that performance reports from 
partners will also be shared with Corporate Parenting Panel so that 
performance issues can be further understood across organisations resulting in 
improved outcomes for children and young people.

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



3.    Summary of Performance – March 2018

3.1 The report contains results key statistics and performance against the targets 
for 24 Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are assessed using a 
Red/Amber/Green (RAG) Status.

3.2 Of the 24 KPIs included in the report, the RAG status are as follows:
 13 are rated Green – target achieved or exceeded
 11 are rated Amber – below target but above floor standard
 0 are rated Red – below floor standard

3.3 For the previous year, ending March 2017, the report had 24 KPIs and the 
results were: 12 Green; 8 Amber; and 4 Red.

3.4 The CIC Scorecard submitted to the previous Corporate Parenting Panel on 1st 
June 2018 was for March 2018.  During the period between the two reports the 
RAG status of 5 of the KPIs changed.  The detail of these changes is provided 
below: 

3.4.1 Percentage of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same Social 
Worker for the last 12 months.  Performance has improved from 
42.1% to 46.0%, moving the RAG status from Red to Amber.  This 
improvement was anticipated as a result of 12 months elapsing since 
the restructure of the Disabled Children and Young People’s services 
and the subsequent transfer of cases between teams.  Prior to the 
restructure performance for this part of the Service was 63.8% (March 
2017) but this dropped to 31.3% in April 2017 and was an average of 
30.0% throughout the year.  For May 2018 the performance for these 
teams was 60.2%, achieving the 60.0% Target.  Performance for the 
CIC Teams in South Kent remains low (28.5% for May 2018), which as 
previously reported is due to the high levels of maternity leave in the 
South Kent Teams.   

3.4.2 Percentage of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 
working days.  Performance against this measure improved from 
76.5% (March 2018) to 77.8% (May 2018) resulting in a change of 
RAG status from Red to Amber.  This KPI has seen month-on-month 
improvement since January 2018 and performance continues to be 
jointly monitored by Kent County Council and Health providers.

3.4.3 Percentage of Dental Checks held within required timescale.  This 
KPI measures the percentage of children who have been in care for 12 
months or more who have had their teeth checked by a Dentist in the 
last 12 months.  This KPI has also seen month-on-month 
improvements and since March 2018 has moved from 86.7% to 92.1% 
(May 2018) moving the RAG status from Amber to Green, with the 
90.0% Target being exceeded.  

3.4.4 Percentage of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health 
history.  Performance for this KPI has dropped from the 100% 
reported in March 2018 to 93.9% in May 2018, changing the RAG 

Page 26



status from Green to Amber.   Whilst the monthly performance has 
seen a decrease the number of young people not receiving a health 
history in the month was 2.  Kent County Council are liaising with 
Health to ensure that the Health Histories for these 2 young people are 
provided and that their electronic social care records are updated 
accordingly.

3.4.5 Percentage of Returner Interviews completed for CIC.  Whilst the 
performance for this KPI has shown a decrease, from 74.4% in March 
2018 to 73.8% in May 2018, the RAG status has changed from Red to 
Amber.  This is a result of the widening of the Amber banding.  For 
2017/18 this was applicable for performance between 75-85%, and for 
2018/19 this was extended to 70-85%.  This retains the focus on the 
statutory timescale whilst allowing for an increased percentage to take 
place outside of the 3 days.  The Target of 85% has been retained.    
The completion rate for all Returner Interviews for CIC, regardless of 
the timescale, is 88.5% and this is deemed to be good performance. It 
should be noted that there is no benchmarking data available for either 
of these two KPIs.  These are local measures which have been set to 
reflect the priority given to Returner Interviews by the Service.

4. Recommendations

4.1 Recommendations:  Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to 
NOTE and COMMENT on the performance data in the Children in Care scorecard.

5. Background documents

None

6. Contact details

Lead Officer
Maureen Robinson
Management Information Service Manager
03000 417164
Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk

Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Director, Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 27

mailto:Maureen.Robinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Publication Date: 20 June 2018

SCS Management Information

Kent Specialist Children's Services

Children in Care
Performance Report

Produced by

May 2018

Page 29



Guidance Notes

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the highest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to achieve the lowest number/percentage possible.

The aim of this indicator is to stay close to the target that has been set.

Children in Care Numerator

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children Denominator

Becoming Looked After Special Educational Need

Other Local Authority Initial Health Assessment

Year to Date (April to March) Qualified Social Worker

Rolling 12 Months Independent Review Officer

Snapshot Placement Order

Annual Special Guardianship Order

Academic Year to Date (Sept to Aug) M Monthly Figure

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact%20Us.aspx 

R12 IRO

QSW

BLA

IHA

SEN

OLA

YTD

A green arrow indicates that performance has improved this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, an improvement in performance could either be a 

reduction or increase in numbers/percentage.

Denom

NumCIC

UASC

Key To Abbreviations

A red arrow indicates that performance has worsened this month when compared to last month. 

Depending on the polarity of the indicator, a worsening in performance could either be a reduction 

or increase in numbers/percentage.

An amber arrow indicates that performance has remained the same as last month.

To access the child level data underpinning the figures in this report or to request reports and/or analysis as a one off 

please log a request through the SCS Performance Management site:

Some of the performance indicators on the scorecard are measured using a Year to Date (YTD) approach - April to 

the end of the current month. For the first few months, it is advisable to treat the results of these indicators with a little 

caution as they are often based on a small cohort of children and therefore the percentages can be easily skewed.   

SGO

PO

Child Level Data and Ad hoc Requests

YTD Data

AC YTD

A

SS

Direction of Travel

RAG Ratings

Polarity

T

L

H

G

A

R

No RAG Rating
RAG ratings are not applied to activity based indicators.  Also, if the denominator is lower than 5 no 

RAG rating has been applied.

Floor Standard achieved but Target has not been met: Floor Standards represent the minimum 

level of acceptable performance. Floor Standards are set in Directorate Business Plans and if not 

achieved must result in management action

A red rating indicates that the current performance is signficantly away from the target set: Target 

has been achieved

A green rating indicates that the current performance has met the target that has been set: Target 

has been achieved

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 29/06/2018 CIC Performance Report - May 2018 Page 2 of 6

Page 30

http://kccbusiness/sites/FSCMI/SitePages/Contact Us.aspx


% of CIC Cases which were reviewed within required timescales H SS 98.7% G 1,552 1,573 98% 99.3% G 98.5% G
% of Children who participated at CIC Reviews H R12M 95.5% G 4,176 4,371 95% 95.4% G 96.6% G
% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the same worker for the last 12 months H SS 46.0% A 495 1,076 60% 45.3% A 46.6% A
CIC Placement stability: % with 3 or more placements in the last 12 months L SS 11.2% A 180 1,614 10% 11.0% A 10.8% A 10% *

CIC Placement stability: % in same placement for last 2 years H SS 69.1% A 394 570 70% 69.1% A 69.5% A 68% *

% of CIC Foster Care in KCC Foster Care/Rel & Friends placements (exc UASC) H SS 84.3% A 940 1,115 85% 84.6% A 84.3% A
% of CIC placed within 20 miles from home (exc UASC) H SS 77.4% A 1,015 1,312 80% 77.4% A 77.4% A

CIC Per 10,000 population aged under 18 (exc UASC) SS 42.3 1,408    333,045 42.8 42.3 57 **

Number of Kent CIC SS 1,614 1,650 1,408

Number of OLA CIC placed in Kent L SS 1,291 1,293

% of CIC for 18 months and allocated to the IRO for the last 12 months H SS 74.3% 800 1,076 74.4% 76.9%

% becoming looked after within 24 months of previous episode L YTD 13.9% 14 101 9.4% 13.2%

% Open to Youth Offending Services L SS 2.7% 44 1,614 2.5% 2.9%

% in P&V placements L SS 7.0% 113 1,614 6.7% 8.0%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (exc Medway) SS 7.7% 124        1,614 8.0% 6.0%

% of Kent CIC Placed Outside of Kent (inc Medway) L SS 14.5% 234 1,614 14.7% 11.9%

No. of current CIC with a permanent exclusion this academic year L AC YTD 0 0 0

No. on a part-time timetable L SS 17 14 17

% of CIC for at least 12mths and aged 16-18 at month end with Education Status of NEET L SS 16.9% 68 402 15.3% 18.1%

% looked after continuously for 12 months with an SEN Statement or Support/EHCP L

% of EHCPs Issued within 20 weeks for EHCP referrals made while child was CIC H

% of IHA referrals within 5 working days of becoming looked after H R12M 83.6% A 404 483 90% 83.9% G 83.6% A
% of Initial Health Assessments taking place within 20 working days H R12M 77.8% A 374 481 85% 77.0% A 77.8% A
% of Health assessments held within required timescale H SS 94.9% G 1,447 1,525 85% 92.9% G 95.6% G 89.4% ***

% of Dental Checks held within required timescale H SS 92.1% G 1,404 1,525 90% 90.7% G 92.9% G 83.4% ***

% of CIC who turned 18 during the month with a health history completed H SS 93.9% A 31 33 100% 96.2% A 93.8% A

SDQ Average of Questionnaires Completed Since 1st April (for Current LAC) L YTD 13.0 1,283 99 12.9 13.5

Ave. no of days between bla and moving in with adoptive family (for children adopted) L R12M 320.0 G 31,364 98 426.0 321.6 G - - 593 **

Ave. no of days between court authority to place a child and the decision on a match L R12M 105.0 G 9,870 94 121.0 107.9 G - - 223 **

% of Children leaving care who were adopted (exc UASC) or made subject to an SGO H R12M 17.1% G 100 585 15.0% 16.9% G 17.1% G 14% ***

% where: 8 weeks from 'adoption being made the Care Plan' to 'Agency Decision to adopt' H R12M 88.0% 95 108 84.1% - -

% of sibling groups that were placed together (where the plan was to place them together) H R12M 85.4% 35 41 79.5% - -

% of CIC with a current Agency Decision, not Placed for Adoption L SS 3.7% 59 1,614 3.8% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO H R12M 3.2% 32 991 3.7% - -

% who ceased to be Looked After who became subject to a SGO (exc. UASC) H R12M 5.5% 32 585 6.4% - -

% of Returner Interviews completed for CIC H R12M 88.5% G 1,030 1,164 85% 89.5% G - -
% of Returner Interviews completed within 3 working days for CIC H R12M 73.8% A 859 1,164 85% 74.3% A - -

Number CIC with Missing Episode started in the month L M 112 121 100

Number of CIC missing episodes started in the month lasting longer than 48 hours H M 32 35 24

Complaints made by CIC (or on their behalf) during the month L M 6 4

Care Leavers in suitable accommodation (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 92.9% G 1,369 1,473 90% 92.9% G - - 92.2% ***

Care Leavers in employment, education or training (of those we are in touch with) H R12M 66.5% G 979 1,473 65% 66.6% G - - 58.6% ***

% of Care Leavers with a Pathway Plan updated in the last 6 months H R12M 97.0% G 1,453 1,498 90% 96.9% G - -
% of Care Leavers we are in contact with (inc UASC) H R12M 87.6% G 1,450 1,656 85% 87.8% G 90.6% ***

Percentage of Current Care Leavers with a Staying Put Arrangement H SS 5.6% 89 1,580 5.0% 8.9%

% of CIC team posts filled by KCC Permanent QSW (exc Fostering & Adoption) H SS 79.3% A 91.2 114.9 85% 83.0% A - -
Ave Caseloads of social workers in CIC Teams (District Teams Only) L SS 17.0 A 1,601 94.2 15.0 16.0 A - -
Ave Caseloads of IROs L SS 56.8 G 1,614 28.4 70.0 58.0 G 49.5 G

* indicates national figures from 2014/15

** indicates national figures from 2015/16

*** Statistical First Release 2016/17

May 2018Scorecard

Indicator

P
o

la
ri

ty Data 

Period

Latest Result and 

RAG Status
Num Denom

Children

Education

Health & Wellbeing

Adoption

Care Leavers

Staffing

Missing Children

Data not available due to new system implementation

Complaints

Target for 

18-19

N
at

io
n

al
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 

(E
n

gl
an

d
 R

at
e)

Excluding UASC
Last month's result

and RAG Status

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 29/06/2018 CIC Performance Report - May 2018 Page 3 of 6

Page 31



Age Female Male Grand Total Disability* Female Male Grand Total

0 24 37 61 Autism or Asperger's syndrome 12 51 63
1 22 13 35 Behaviour 9 38 47
2 13 12 25 Communication 8 16 24
3 12 17 29 Consciousness 7 9 16
4 11 15 26 Hand Function 1 1 2
5 14 17 31 Hearing 3 7 10
6 16 18 34 Incontinence 3 8 11
7 13 23 36 Learning 29 50 79
8 29 28 57 Mobility 13 12 25
9 29 48 77 Personal Care 3 7 10
10 41 49 90 Vision 5 8 13
11 38 55 93 Other DDA 8 16 24
12 50 52 102 None 584 847 1431
13 40 73 113
14 56 75 131
15 71 90 161 UASC? Female Male Grand Total

16 75 150 225 Yes 9 197 206
17 85 203 288 No 630 778 1408
Grand Total 639 975 1614 Grand Total 639 975 1614

Nationality Female Male Grand Total Ethnicity Female Male Grand Total

Afghanistani 72 72 A1 - White British 542 656 1198
Albanian 12 12 A2 - White Irish 3 2 5
Bangladeshi 1 1 2 A3 - Any other White background 21 50 71
Belgian 1 1 A4 - Traveller of Irish Heritage 1 1
British 596 727 1323 A5 - Gypsy/Roma 8 7 15
Chinese 1 1 B1 - White and Black Caribbean 12 21 33
Congolese 1 1 B2 - White and Black African 2 8 10
Czech 6 6 B3 - White and Asian 5 5 10
Egyptian 9 9 B4 - Any other mixed background 20 10 30
Eritrean 3 48 51 C1 - Indian 4 4
Ethiopian 1 1 C3 - Bangladeshi 1 1 2
German 1 1 C4 - Any other Asian background 4 24 28
Ghana 1 1 D1 - Caribbean 1 1 2
Guinean 1 1 D2 - African 12 63 75
Indian 1 1 D3 - Any other Black background 2 2 4
Iranian 13 13 E1 - Chinese 1 1 2
Iraqi 14 14 E2 - Any other ethnic group 4 120 124
Irish 2 4 6 Grand Total 639 975 1614
Ivorian 1 1
Jamaican 1 1
Kuwaiti 1 1
Latvian 5 1 6
Lithuanian 1 6 7
Nepalese 1 3 4
Nigerian 1 3 4
Not Recorded 8 8 16
Omani 1 1
Polish 5 5
Portugese 1 1
Sierra Leone 1 1
Slovak 5 11 16
Slovenian 2 3 5
South African 1 1
Sri Lankan 1 1 2
Sudanese 3 3
Syrian 6 6
Turkish 1 1
Vietnamese 4 12 16
Grand Total 639 975 1614

Demographic Breakdown for Kent LAC as at 31/05/2018

*  If a child has more than 1 disability recorded they will be counted 

more than once in the table

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 29/06/2018 CIC Performance Report - May 2018 Page 4 of 6

Page 32



Ref

Trend Graphs

* Data between Sep 2013 and Mar 2014 is not available as reporting was suspended due to the implementation of a new system.

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

1,200

1,250

1,300

1,350

1,400

May
13

Sep
13

Jan
14

May
14

Sep
14

Jan
15

May
15

Sep
15

Jan
16

May
16

Sep
16

Jan
17

May
17

Sep
17

Jan
18

May
18

OLA LAC in Kent over the last 5 years

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

May
13

Aug
13

Nov
13

Feb
14

May
14

Aug
14

Nov
14

Feb
15

May
15

Aug
15

Nov
15

Feb
16

May
16

Aug
16

Nov
16

Feb
17

May
17

Aug
17

Nov
17

Feb
18

May
18

% of CIC with 3+ placements in 12 months 
over the last 5 years*

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

May
13

Sep
13

Jan
14

May
14

Sep
14

Jan
15

May
15

Sep
15

Jan
16

May
16

Sep
16

Jan
17

May
17

Sep
17

Jan
18

May
18

LAC over the last 5 years UASC

Citizen

850

900

950

1,000

1,050

1,100

1,150

May
13

Sep
13

Jan
14

May
14

Sep
14

Jan
15

May
15

Sep
15

Jan
16

May
16

Sep
16

Jan
17

May
17

Sep
17

Jan
18

May
18

LAC placed in KCC Foster Care over the last 
5 years

0

50

100

150

200

250

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (exc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC

Citizen

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

% Leaving Care over the last 3 years SGO

Adoption

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

1,600

1,800

Apr
15

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

Care Leavers** UASC

Citizen

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Jun
15

Aug
15

Oct
15

Dec
15

Feb
16

Apr
16

Jun
16

Aug
16

Oct
16

Dec
16

Feb
17

Apr
17

Jun
17

Aug
17

Oct
17

Dec
17

Feb
18

Apr
18

CIC Placed Outside Kent (inc Medway)
over the last 3 years

UASC
Citizen

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 29/06/2018 CIC Performance Report - May 2018 Page 5 of 6

Page 33



Data source: VSK. Figures shown are number of children

Multiple Attendance Factors May 2018

Multiple Attendance Factors April 2018

Key: 
CSE  Child Sexual Exploitation PA  Persisent Absence RTT  Reduced Timetable
Exclusions figures include children with temporary suspensions

Education Factors for Kent LAC as at 31/05/2018 and comparison with previous month

Produced by: SC SCS Management Information

Publication Date: 29/06/2018 CIC Performance Report - May 2018 Page 6 of 6

Page 34



1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Secretary of State for Education appointed Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers to 
conduct the National Fostering Stocktake for England during 2017. Their report, 
Foster Care in England, was published in February 2018. The independent review of 
foster care in England contains 36 recommendations to the government about how 
the outcomes of children in foster care can be improved, including:

 Ensuring foster carers are supported and included in decision-making; 

 Improving foster placement commissioning, and matching; 

 Greater stability and permanence for children and young people in foster care.

2.0 Summary of the data

2.1 As at March 2017, 53,420 children were in foster care from a care population of 
72,670. In 2016-2017, £1.6 billion was spent on foster care and 62% of children in 
foster care were placed within the boundaries of their local authority.

2.2 During 2016-2017, the most common reason for placement change was a change to 
the care plan (35%) followed by foster carers requesting an end to the placement 
(12%).

2.3 Children in foster care do not do as well educationally when compared to the general 
population; however, they do better than children ‘in need’.

From Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and 
Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director for Children, Young People and 
Education

To Corporate Parenting Panel – 19 July 2018

Subject The National Fostering Stocktake -  Foster Care in England.
A review for the Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey 
and Mark Owers – February 2018

Classification Unrestricted

Summary This report provides Members with an overview of the National 
Fostering Stocktake (2018). It includes the Kent Fostering Business 
Plan for 2018-2019, linked to the National Minimum Standards for 
Fostering Agencies. (2011)

Recommendation Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
recommendations of the National Fostering Stocktake and the 
delivery of the Kent Fostering Business Plan. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



2.4 Findings from a survey found that most children who responded felt ‘being looked 
after’ was a positive intervention; this had improved their lives and they felt safe in 
their placements.

2.5 As at 31 March 2016, there were 44,320 approved fostering households, 67% of 
these were registered with local authorities.

2.6 The average weekly spend on a placement is approximately £634 per child, per week 
(2016/2017) although spend ranges from around £350 to £900.

2.7 The average weekly cost of a local authority placement is £475 compared with £798 
for independent fostering agency placement.

3.0 Helping carers to make fostering more effective

3.1 Foster carers must be treated professionally. The statutory guidance should be 
changed to ensure foster carers involvement in review meetings is the default 
position.

3.2 The Department for Education are to urgently remind all local authorities that the 
delegation of total authority for all category one decisions should apply automatically, 
unless, for exceptional reasons, such delegation is inappropriate.

3.3 The Department for Education are to clarify in future guidance the issue of physical 
affection.

3.4 Local authorities should be able to decide on an individual social worker who is best 
placed to offer support to a foster family in long-term placements.

3.5  Local authorities should be able to dispense with the role of Independent Review 
Officers (IRO) and reinvest savings in frontline staffing.

3.6 There needs to be an assessment and consultation with the sector and carers on the 
effectiveness, cost and value for money of fostering panels.

3.7 Local authorities need to ensure the department for education guidance on 
allegations is followed in all cases and carers need to be reassured that they will be 
supported through the process. All fostering services should consider introducing 
structured peer support for carers.

Link to the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2018-19

Kent Fostering have launched the foster carer satisfaction survey (June 2018) to establish 
whether our foster carers feel they are treated professionally and their view on the quality 
of the support provided. 

The use of Delegated Authority will be reviewed to promote its use for children to be able 
to stay with foster carers extended family members through the use of relief care 
arrangements.  

Page 36



Kent Fostering has clear guidance on “Allegations and Complaints against Foster carers” 
and already have a Peer Support structure in place and a mentoring scheme. There is 
clear management oversight and tracking of allegations. 

The Fostering Panel Chair Report (2018) evidences that Fostering panels in Kent function 
well and are compliant with the Fostering Regulations (2011).   

4.0  The financial reward and compensation for foster carers

4.1 The stocktake endorses tiered approaches to paying fees, linked to the skills and 
experiences of carers. The payments to carers are not inadequate, nor an obstacle to 
recruitment and the government and local authorities should resist any move to 
award the foster carers employment status.

Link to the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2018-19

Kent Fostering already have a tiered system of payments, this is currently being reviewed 
and updated jointly with our Foster Carer Ambassadors and being linked to the Fostering 
Annual Review. 

5.0 Recruitment

5.1 There is great merit in a national register of carers, the Department for Education is 
urged to evaluate the costs and advantages of this.

5.2 There should be greater regional cooperation on recruitment and as such, Local 
Authorities should consider combining recruitment efforts.

5.3 The Department for Education should consider rebranding and relaunching 
First4Adoption to improve foster care recruitment and this would need substantial 
funding from the Department for Education. The local authorities and independent 
fostering agencies might also be expected to contribute as it will help to reduce their 
own marketing spend.

5.4 All local authorities and independent fostering agencies are urged to review and 
improve the way they handle initial enquiries, with greater use of mystery shopping to 
monitor the quality of response.

5.5 The local authorities and independent review agencies should also invite a much 
larger proportion of resigning/retiring carers to take part in exit interviews.

5.6 The perception is that there is more poaching from independent fostering agencies to 
local authorities, where this happens independent fostering agencies should be 
compensated. It is suggested the transfer protocol, produced by the fostering 
network, is amended to reflect this.

Page 37



Link to the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2018-19

The retention of foster carers is to be evaluated every 6-months using information from exit 
interviews. Post approval interviews are to be completed 6-months after approval to learn 
from the recruitment process and initial support. 

Collaboration with other local authorities in relation to recruitment strategies and how 
foster ambassadors continue to support the recruitment and retention of foster carers.

6.0 Commissioning

6.1 Local authorities should share framework contracts, the secrecy and variation in 
prices only benefits providers. The local authorities should also come together to 
create approximately 10 commissioning consortia, the benefits of critical mass have 
the potential to reduce spend on fostering.

6.2 The consortia should appoint national account managers for larger independent 
fostering agencies to help reduce the likelihood of consortia competing against each 
other.

6.3 Larger local authorities or consortia should consider becoming self-sufficient in carer 
recruitment or partner with one or more independent fostering agencies to provide 
the complete fostering service.

Link to the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2018-2019

Total Placement Service 6 Month pilot from April 2018 will review commissioning of 
independent fostering placements and making best use of local provision.  Kent already 
has a framework of providers and works closely with in house fostering provision to plan 
sufficiency of placements for Kent children and young people. 

7.0 Matching

7.1 All local authorities should use Bright Spots, or similar, to regularly and systematically 
measure children’s experiences of fostering relative to other local authorities.

7.2 The statutory guidance shows that children should know their rights to advocacy and 
how to access such services should be reinforced. The Department for Education 
should work with the Children’s Commissioner and voluntary sector providers of 
advocacy services to ensure this is carried out. The local authorities should monitor 
the quality of referral information.

 
7.3 Carers should, wherever possible, be able to play a proactive role in matching. 

Adapting adopter-led family finding techniques to help find suitable long-term 
fostering placements should be piloted in several local authorities, and children must 
be routinely better prepared for a placement.

Page 38



7.4 If the proposed register of carers were not to be introduced, at the very least a 
vacancy management should be established. 

Link to the Kent Fostering Business Plan 2018-19
Kent are currently using MOMO to engage children’s views and experiences in care. 

Children are carefully matched to a foster placement and wherever possible given 
information about the foster carers before arrival. Every foster carer has an up to date 
profile with photographs that can be printed off and given to the children before the start of 
a placement. 

Carers are given full information about the child and the fostering service and the foster 
carer contribute effectively to each child’s placement plan review and statutory review of 
the child’s care plan.

8.0 Matching and siblings

8.1 The department for education are urged to remind all local authorities of the change 
in the law about contact and the need for professionals to ensure that this only takes 
place where it is in the best interests of the child.

8.2 When moving placement, children should be routinely consulted about the adults and 
children who are important to them and, unless it is not in their interests, contact 
should be encouraged and facilitated.

8.3 Local authorities should review the environments in which family contact takes place 
and the way it is supervised and as part of the assessment process when sibling 
enter care, individually or simultaneously, local authorities should not presume that 
keeping groups together is in the interest of all children. 

8.4 The individual needs of each child should be considered along with the ability of one 
set of carers to meet the developmental demands of the full sibling group.

9.0 A final word on permanence

9.1 Children on the edge of care and their families should receive earlier access to foster 
care. The department for education and a select number of local authorities should 
explore the potential of support foster care.

9.2 The priority must be to convert more fostering placements to arrangements that will 
last forever, either adoption of special guardianship, not least through longer term 
guarantees of financial support.

9.3 The work of the adoption leadership board and the residential care board should 
continue, and similar arrangements should be made to implement the 
recommendations of the fostering stocktake. Overseeing these boards, Ministers 
should establish a permanence board under the chairmanship of the Director General 

Page 39



for Children’s Social Care, with the purpose of delivering permanence to more looked 
after children, and a sense of belonging.

10.0 The Children’s Commissioners has gathered views and experiences of children 
in foster care to inform the national fostering stocktake

10.1 Children were asked a range of questions on being in care: 

Q: What’s the best thing about being in care?

Answer 1: Feeling like part of the family.

Some young people viewed their foster carers as ‘their mum and dad’, many enjoyed 
activities with their foster family, such as going on holiday and family days out.

Answer 2: A safe home. 

Many children said the best thing about being in care was having access to a safe, 
permanent home.

Answer 3: Enhanced opportunities. 

Some young people felt that they had been given better opportunities, extra support 
with schooling and preparation for life.

Q: What’s the worst thing about being in care?

Answer 1: Lack of stability.

Uncertainty of placement stability and concerns expressed about how frequently their 
social workers and/or respite carers changed.

Answer 2: Uncertainty of leaving care.

Older children expressed anxiety about leaving care and they felt that not enough 
information was provided about what would happen after leaving care.

Answer 3: Lack of independence.

Some older children did not feel like they had a sense of independence and freedom. 

Q: What do young people want from their foster carers?

Answer 1: To feel part of a family.

Answer 2: Increased financial support.

Answer 3: To be listened to.

Page 40



             10.2 Additional findings

 Stigma of being a child in care;
 Issues around ‘staying put’ policy;
 Lack of information prior to the placement;
 Poor matching with carers.

11.0 Conclusion

The Kent Fostering Service are confident that the 2018-19 Business Plan encompasses 
most of the recommendations from the Foster Care in England Report. There are some 
areas that will require further analysis and review for Kent County Council including the 
role of the Independent Reviewing Officer and the role of the Fostering Panels. 

12.0 Recommendation

Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the recommendations of 
the National Fostering Stocktake and the delivery of the Kent Fostering Business Plan. 

13.0 Background Documents

none

Report Author:
Nicola Anthony – Interim Head of Fostering
03000 418510
Nicola.anthony@kent.gov.uk

 
Lead Director
Sarah Hammond
Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services
03000 411488
Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

Page 41

mailto:Nicola.anthony@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Kent County Council’s fostering service business plan; 2018-2019 V1

This Business Plan correlates to the SCS business plan

Kent Fostering Service vision

To achieve an outstanding fostering service that ensures consistent support to foster carers with positive outcomes for Kent children and young 
people with improved stability within their foster family. “Making Kent a county that works for all children.”

This document uses the National Minimum Standards (NMS) applicable to the provision of fostering services. The NMS together with the fostering regulations form the basis of 
the regulatory framework under the Care Standards Act 2000 for the conduct of fostering agencies. 

Kent Fostering service business plan; April 2018 – March 2019

Kent County Council are committed to ensuring that children can remain in the care of their parents and birth families where possible.

However, where it is not possible for the child to remain in their birth family, we work to achieve alternate task centered or permanent 
arrangements for the child within a family setting.

This business plan sets out how Kent’s fostering service intends to deliver its services to ensure children feel safe, secure, loved, fulfilled, happy 
and optimistic and how we will support their foster carers to provide this to them.

TARGET 1: Facilitating the Corporate Parenting role within Kent Fostering and across Kent County Council departments. (NMS 7.1, 13.1)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcome
To work collaboratively 
with libraries, KCC 
office buildings and 
country parks to 
promote the recruitment 
of foster carers across 

Communication via the 
Challenger Event to engage 
all KCC teams in supporting 
the recruitment of foster 
carers and that they are 
engaged to promote fostering 

Calendar of 
events to 
be 
published 
for 2018. 

Head of 
fostering

By carrying out consistent 
calendar of recruitment and 
information events across 
Kent to be published on Kent 
Fostering Website. 

Recruitment of 150 
new foster carers for 
1st April 2018 - 31st 
March 2019. 

P
age 43

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/80115/CYPE-Directorate-Business-Plan-2018-19.pdf


Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcome
Virtual School 
Kent
Recruitment 
coordinator

all areas within Kent.

For libraries and 
country parks to be 
used for activity days 
for children and young 
people within school 
holidays. 

for KCC. Recruitment 
material will be provided to all 
KCC venues with specific 
information events planned 
for the year.  

Virtual School Kent (VSK) 
and our apprentices to 
support and facilitate activity 
days using KCC venues. 

VSK will have calendar of 
events for children and 
young people during school 
holidays. 

The Kent Fostering 
brand will be 
prominent throughput 
the Kent  community. 

There will be better 
use of KCC venues 
to facilitate a range of 
activities for our 
children and young 
people. 

TARGET 2: How we will ensure children and young people can communicate their views on all aspects of their care and support. (NMS 1.3, 1.4, 
1.5, 1.7)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescale Lead Performance management Outcome
Head of 
Fostering
Service 
Managers

Fostering Team 
Managers

Fostering 
Review Team

It is a priority for 
children in care teams 
and the fostering teams 
to promote the voice of 
the children and young 
people within their 
districts. 

To increase the voice of the 
child within foster carer 
annual reviews and increase 
the attendance of children in 
care at participation events.

Fostering social workers to 
include the voice of the child 
within the foster carer 
supervision visits. To see the 
children within placement a 
minimum of quarterly to 
include a visit prior to foster 
carers annual reviews.

To review 
monthly on 
fostering 
Team 
Operational 
Dashboard. 
(TOD)

Participation 
events to be 
recorded in 
Foster Carer 
Annual 
Reviews.  

Increase number of 
feedback forms received 
from children and young 
people. 

All foster carers to support 
children attending 
participation events at a 
minimum of 3 events per 
year. (to be recorded in the 
foster carers review).

Increase the voice of 
the child in foster 
carer annual reviews 
and supervision 
visits. 

Increase children and 
young people’s 
attendance at 
participation events. 

P
age 44



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescale Lead Performance management Outcome
VSKThe increased use of Mind of 

My Own (MOMO) to seek the 
views of children in care.
To build on the East Kent 
Pilot group for girls by 
providing “Keeping Safe” 
groups across all districts for 
boys and girls in foster care 
who are aged 12-16-years 
old.

The events are to be 
coordinated by Virtual School 
Kent and fostering support 
teams to have a “Keeping 
Safe and emotional wellbeing 
theme”.

To aim to 
have groups 
running 
across the 
county 
during 2018-
2019. 

Fostering 
Support Team 
managers

By making it a requirement 
to attend participation 
events by adding to the 
foster care Terms and 
Conditions by July 2018.

Virtual School Kent to 
complete evaluation 
following each 6-week 
programme.

Increased use of 
MOMO following 
mobile working 
devices being 
provided to children’s 
social workers. 
For vulnerable young 
people to have a safe 
environment with 
trusted adults to learn 
about “Keeping Safe” 
and support their 
emotional well-being. 

Independent 
review officers

Children in care 
social workers

To ensure children are 
visited as part of the 
allegation and 
complaints process. 

To learn from 
complaints and 
allegations to ensure a 
“Safe” fostering service. 

The outcomes of the 
allegations and complaints 
are to be given to children 
and young people, along with 
the joint visits and direct work 
to be completed as part of the 
allegation and/or complaint 
process.

The implementation of 
guidelines for social workers 
following an allegation 
against a foster carer or 
member of the fostering 
household.

Guidelines 
are on Tri-x 
and are to 
be 
implemented 
into all social 
worker 
practice.  

Fostering social 
workers and 
team Managers. 

All allegation and 
complaints to be tracked 
monthly by the fostering 
team managers and 
included in monthly audit 
return.  
This will be reviewed 
quarterly within the districts 
with the area Assistant 
Director, Head of Fostering, 
Service Managers, team 
managers, Virtual School 
Kent and LADO.

To ensure there is 
learning across the 
fostering service from 
any allegations and 
complaints by 
reviewing Safe Care 
policy and guidelines. 

P
age 45



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescale Lead Performance management Outcome
Head of 
fostering

Learning from children’s 
and young people’s 
feedback to be 
disseminated 
throughout the fostering 
service.

The complaints and 
compliments are to be 
presented monthly at the 
corporate parenting 
management meeting; 
including learning points for 
the service.

This will also be shared 
quarterly at team managers 
meetings and learning 
disseminated to foster carers 
through the following ways:
- Foster carer advisory 

board;
- Kent Foster Carer 

Association (KFCA);
- Foster carer 

ambassadors;
- Foster carer monthly 

support groups.

Monthly

Fostering team 
managers

Monitor and measure 
through the complaints 
tracker for Corporate 
Parenting.

Aim for a reduction in 
complaints and allegations 
within Kent Fostering. 

A learning culture will 
be developed and 
measured by a 
reduction in repeat 
complaints of similar 
themes.

To achieve a safer 
fostering service 
where young people 
report they feel safe 
and listened to.

Foster carers are 
child and young 
people focused and 
actively promote 
attendance at the 
young people’s 
councils (YAC and 
OYPC).

P
age 46



TARGET 3: Ensure all foster carers have a clear personal development plan for learning and training. (NMS 4.6, 20.4, 20.5, 20.9)
(This includes training on safe care, keeping children safe, prevent, social media, gangs, CSE and understanding of behaviour and child development to include positive 
control and de-escalation).

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
All foster carers to have 
a personal development 
plan from the initial 
registration stage. 

This should be updated 
and reviewed each 
year.

All foster carers are to have a 
personal development plan 
(PDP) initially as part of the 
Kent Fostering assessment, 
this will then be updated each 
year.

For personal development 
plans to be built as a Liberi 
form to reduce document 
uploads and enable reporting 
to be pulled through as part 
of the annual review.

Training must be addressed 
as part of supervisions for the 
foster carers whilst non-
attendances would be 
addressed through annual 
review process and panel.

PDP to be 
completed 
at time of 
approval for 
new foster 
carers and 
yearly for 
existing 
carers. 

Fostering Social 
Workers for both 
Assessment and 
Support Teams

Audit process to include 
evidence of completed 
personal development 
plans.

Foster carer training is 
monitored on Liberi and 
reported monthly. 

The fostering scorecard now 
includes:
- The percentage of foster 

carers who have 
completed core training 
within the first and/ or 
second year of approval.

- Foster carers who have 
not completed training 
within the last 6/12 
months will be 
highlighted by the 
training coordinator.

To have skilled and 
knowledgeable 
foster carers able to 
care for a range of 
children with 
complex needs. 

To increase the 
number of carers 
who can care for 
teenagers through 
targeted training on 
adolescence. 

To have a clear 
structure of training for 
new and experienced 
foster carers with a 
specific programme of 
career development.

New Courses for 2018 and 
2019
- Autism; difficult behaviors;
- Autism; the early years;
- Considering attachment 

for children with 
disabilities;

- Equality and diversity;

Training 
calendar 
provided to 
all foster 
carers for 
2018-2019. 

Training 
Coordinator

As part of the retention of 
our existing foster carers, 
we need to ensure we have 
a competitive offer of new 
training courses on a yearly 
basis.  

To offer a varied 
training calendar 
with opportunities 
for personal 
development and 
building new skills 
and knowledge with 
foster carers. 

P
age 47



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
- LGBT;
- Life story work;
- Self-harm;
- Non-violence resistance 

programme (8 weeks);
- Non-violence resistance 

behavior taster day;
- Sense of belonging; 

keeping your head;
- Foster carers conference; 

keeping children safe 
including on social media.

All foster carers to 
receive training in 
positive care and 
control of children, 
including training in de-
escalating problems 
and disputes.

Additional fostering staff 
trained to facilitate Fostering 
Changes training course for 
under and over 11’s, with 2 
trained in each support team.

Fostering 
Changes 
will be part 
of the yearly 
training 
calendar. 

Training 
Coordinator. 

Increased placement 
stability monitored through 
the Fostering Scorecard.

To improve our 
placement stability. 

To offer joint training for 
foster carers, social 
workers and other 
professionals.

Reflective fostering 
programme:
Staff to be trained by Anna 
Freud Centre and facilitate to 
foster carers jointly with the 
NSPCC.
The programme has been 
specifically designed to assist 
foster carers in using 
mentalising techniques to 
build and sustain positive 
working relationships with the 
children in their care and 
build placement stability. This 

October 
2018 - 2019

Training 
Coordinator

Increased placement 
stability monitored through 
the Fostering Scorecard.

Increased 
placement stability 
with the 
partnerships 
working with the 
Sense of Belonging 
service.

P
age 48



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
will be delivered over 2 years 
starting at the end of 2018.

Head of 
Fostering

Training 
Coordinator

All foster carers are 
trained in appropriate 
Safe Care practice and 
all children have an 
individual Safe Care 
Plan on Liberi.

Mandatory training 
programmes for the second 
foster carers will include 
online training in Safe Care 
and prevent.

July 2018

Head of 
Fostering

Foster carer training is 
monitored as part of Liberi, 
reporting monthly.

Increased 
awareness and 
skills in keeping 
children safe in the 
fostering home and 
community 
measured by a 
reduction in 
allegations.

Service 
Managers 

To improve 
understanding of 
teenage developmental 
needs.

Fostering support teams to 
facilitate adolescent 
workshops, and support 
groups to increase 
confidence and skills in 
caring for teenagers.

Level 2 and 3 foster carers to 
provide peer support for 
foster carers caring for 
challenging and complex 
children and young people.

For all areas 
to complete 
by 
December 
2018.

Fostering 
Support Teams

Increase the use of our 
foster carer vacancies for 
teenagers. 

Increase the 
numbers of foster 
carers accepting 
teenage 
placements. 
Maximise the use of 
our in-house foster 
placements. 

Update the Foster carer The foster carer handbook is December Head of Foster carers demonstrate To have one 

P
age 49



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Handbook, so there is 
one source of 
information.

to be updated and ensure all 
correct policies and 
procedures are accessible.

To develop the concept of a 
Kent fostering app, to provide 
foster carers with immediate 
and accessible resources and 
guidance to complete the 
fostering task(s).

2018 Fostering 
supported by 
Practice 
Development 
Officer (PDO) 
role. 

they are up to date with 
policies, procedures and 
guidance measured in 
annual reviews and 
supervisions.

electronic source of 
information for 
Foster carers. 

TARGET 4: To maintain an effective strategy to ensure sufficient foster carers are responsive to current and predicted future demands on the 
service. (NMS 13.1, 21.1, 21.2, 21.5)
(This recommendation is made within the context of recruiting a sufficient number of foster carers who can accommodate sibling groups, to reduce the need for exemptions).

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
management

Outcomes

Fostering team 
managers

To ensure the better 
use of current 
vacancies, review and 
de-register where 
carers are unavailable 
and to make use of the 
‘on hold’ policy.

All inactive foster carers to be 
reviewed during the annual 
review process or prior to this 
where appropriate, to ensure 
maximum use of in-house 
vacancies.

The ‘on hold’ policy is to be 
used where carers require a 
break from the fostering role.

Annual 
Review

Service 
managers

Support teams are to 
review inactive carers, 
supported by the fostering 
review team, total 
placement service and 
management information 
unit.

To make use of all 
potential vacancies. 

Head of fosteringThe recruitment 
strategy has been 
updated to reflect use 
of social media and on-
line advertising.

The website is to be updated 
with new images and clear 
branding for ‘Kent fostering 
service’. This will be 
frequently reviewed to keep it 

Monthly 
review of 
website Recruitment 

coordinator

The communications team 
are to provide services by 
reporting on the number of 
website reaches, analysis 
on where people have seen 

To recruit 150 foster 
carers. 

P
age 50



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
management

Outcomes

up to date.

Recruitment activity focused 
on targeted areas for South, 
North and West. Priority need 
for placements for siblings, 
adolescents, disabled 
children, 
emergency/assessment beds 
and parent and child.

Communications 
team

information about 
recruitment events, and 
overall increase in 
applications following 
fostering recruitment 
advertising and events.

Head of fostering

Fostering 
assessment 
managers

The plan for the use of 
the recruitment budget 
to include short term 
outcomes and a longer 
term yearly plan.

Increased use of use of 
social media; including 
Facebook, Twitter and 
Google to promote the 
service and increase 
applications.  

Target for foster carers
To recruit 150 new fostering 
households registered foster 
carers by April 2019.

April 2019. 

Recruitment 
coordinators

Retention of foster carers to 
be evaluated every 6 
months, using information 
from exit interviews. (These 
are to be continued to be 
undertaken for all carers that 
leave the service)
Post approval interviews to 
be completed 6 months 
after approval, to learn from 
and review the recruitment 
process and initially support 
provided.  
Effectiveness to be 
measured through post 
approval 6-month interview 
with new carers.

To improve 
retention of new 
foster carers and 
attract new 
applications for Kent 
Fostering. 

Foster Carer 
Ambassadors to 
support the recruitment 
and retention of foster 
carers.

30 Kent Foster Carer 
Ambassadors have been 
recruited to promote fostering 
at recruitment and fostering 
events, organise ‘meet and 
greet’ events in each area 

Quarterly 
Ambassadors 
meetings with 
Head of 
Fostering

Head of 
Fostering

Recruitment coordinator to 
complete yearly report 
incorporating feedback from 
new carers collated during 
interview process.

Learn from the 
feedback of foster 
carers satisfaction 
survey to identify 
improvements 
within the service. 

P
age 51



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
management

Outcomes

Foster carer 
Satisfaction Survey to 
be undertaken to seek 
foster carer views of 
Kent Fostering.  

To celebrate Foster 
Carers work with 
children through 
celebration events. 

and co-facilitate and assist 
with updating policies and 
procedures.

Celebration Awards 
Ceremony October 2018.

Foster Carer 
survey to be 
completed 
July 2018. 

Panel chairs report and 
feedback.

Increase in the recruitment 
and retention of foster 
carers to be tracked 
through data provided by 
management information 
unit. (MIU)

Head of fostering

Recruitment 
coordinator

Recruit sufficient foster 
carers to meet the 
needs of children in 
care in Kent.

Ambassadors to be actively 
involved in recruiting and 
assisting with fostering 
assessment social workers

Deliver a Providers 
Recruitment fayre jointly with 
Catch22, adoption, young 
lives foundation, shared lives, 
Virtual School Kent and Kent 
Foster Care Association on 
the 13th October 2018.

October 2018

Assessment 
team managers

Increase in the recruitment 
and retention of foster 
carers, data provided by 
management information 
unit.

Increase in 
approved Foster 
carers

Foster carers receive 
relevant support 
services.

Development of more relief 
carers and use of delegated 
authority to support children, 
young people and foster 
carers.

The relief carer assessment 
to be reviewed and 

March 2019 Service 
Managers

To have a clearer guidance 
on the use of delegated 
authority for sleepovers with 
foster carers family and 
friends.

Children and young people 
will have links with foster 

Reduce the 
numbers of 
fostering 
placements used for 
foster carers A/L, by 
increasing the use 
of relief carers.  

P
age 52



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance 
management

Outcomes

assessment/identification of 
relief carers to commence at 
the point of main carers Kent 
assessments.

Team Managers carers extended 
family/friends to support 
respite arrangements and 
placement stability.

TARGET 5: To ensure that the Head of Fostering regularly monitors all records that are kept by the service; this should ensure compliance with 
the service’s policies and to identify specific incidents and areas for concern, patterns and trends. (25.1, 25.2, 25.3)
(This recommendation is made within the context of addressing the variable recording of foster carer annual reviews, panel reports, supervision and case records).

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Head of fostering

Service 
managers

Team Managers

Centralised 
Fostering Team 
Managers

Foster carer files are to 
be audited monthly to 
improve the quality of 
recording and to 
achieve consistency in 
practice across the 
county.

Fostering support team 
managers will complete 5 
audits per month from their 
own team including any case 
with an allegation/complaint 
or standard of care concern.  

Team Managers to review the 
TOD every month and supply 
a summary for the Head of 
Fostering and Assistant 
Director. 

Team managers will return 
one completed template to 
head of service per month, 
which will be collated for the 
service and submitted to the 

Monthly 
audit return

The themes and learning 
will be fed back at children 
in care meetings along with 
the operational fostering 
manager meetings.

Firm step audits will be 
measured on line, selected 
randomly, supported by 
MIU. 

Future audit cycle to be part 
of regular quality assurance 
and collated audit ratings to 
be reviewed monthly by 
Head of Service and 
Assistant Director to track 
progress (service 

Improvement in 
consistency of 
recording on Liberi 
across the fostering 
teams. 

P
age 53



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Assistant Director for 
corporate parenting. 

There will be an additional 
audit of 20 cases per month 
by the centralised fostering 
teams from across the 
county, which will include 
quality of annual reviews or 
assisting with support team 
audits. 

Learning from thematic audit 
(April 2018) to be shared at 
service day and actions taken 
forward.

improvement framework).

Outcome of audits to be 
reported at extended 
managers meetings and 
children in care. 

Placements planning 
meetings held within 5 days.

Central Fostering to 
assist the support 
teams in reviewing 
consistency of 
practice. 

TARGET 6: Handling allegations and suspicions of harm (NMS 22)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
To have a central 
system for recording 
complaints and 
allegations with clear 
leadership in 
management of 
allegations, with use of 
performance 
management where 
appropriate.

All allegations are recorded 
on the carer’s record on 
Liberi and presented to the 
fostering panel.
   
Peer support training is to be 
provided yearly to ensure 
carers are supported and 
understand the process.  

The head of service and 

Monthly Head of fostering Social media checks and 
LADO evaluation meetings 
to be added to the Kent 
fostering allegations 
procedures.
All fostering teams to follow 
the flowchart for allegations, 
supported by the LADO 
service. 

All new applications to foster 

Clear record of all 
allegations and 
complaints against 
Kent Foster carers. 

Service is able to 
learn from Serious 
Case Reviews and 
review practice. 

P
age 54



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Service 
managers

LADO manager are to meet 
monthly to review allegations.

Quarterly meetings in each 
area with the Assistant 
director, service managers, 
fostering team managers, 
VSK, LADO manager and 
head of fostering to be 
implemented to consider all 
allegations and complaints.

Liberi standards of care 
toolkit to be used to assess 
standards of care issues in 
relation to the fostering 
National Minimum Standards.

Manager of the 
LADO service

will have Kent Risk and 
Vulnerability assessment 
completed. This will also be 
completed following any 
allegation or complaint 
against a registered foster 
carer. 

Allegations to be reviewed 
using the fostering 
dashboard/scorecard for 
recording. 

Liberi implementation of a 
standards of care tab 
support consistent recording 
of standards of care issues.

P
age 55



TARGET 7: Payments to Foster Carers (NMS 28)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Assistant Director 
for Corporate 
Parenting

The foster carers 
payments and 
expenses are to be 
reviewed yearly in line 
with Kent County 
Council’s payments and 
charging policy.

We will ensure that payments 
are in line with other local 
authorities, national DfE 
guidance and are competitive 
with Kent Independent 
Fostering Agencies.

Yearly

Head of Fostering

By reviewing at the 
beginning of the financial 
year in line with the Kent 
County Council payment 
and charging policy.

Payments for foster carers 
are to be published onto the 
fostering website and in 
Kent County Council 
publications of payments.

A clear payment 
structure for Kent 
Fostering. 

Head of Fostering

Foster Carer 
Ambassadors

Training 
coordinator

A review of the 
Payments for Skills 
Level 2 and 3.

To review the function and 
format of the payment for 
skills panel. 

Review the competency 
assessment framework and 
update in line with Annual 
Review evidence. 

Review the annual review 
form to streamline and make 
the report more purposeful 
and a reflection of the foster 
carers full year of fostering 
while evidencing competency 
and the national minimum 
standards.

September 
2018

Foster carer 
ambassadors

Foster carers and staff need 
a clear process to provide 
evidence for the 
consideration of Level 2 and 
3 payments. This will be 
measured in achieving 
consistent practice across 
the county.

Training to be delivered in 
line with the updated 
competency framework.

The training coordinator and 
head of fostering are to 
review competencies, jointly 
with foster carers 
ambassadors.

To ensure a 
competitive 
payment structure 
and career 
development for 
Kent Foster carers. 

P
age 56



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Consider the structure in line 
with the IFA payment 
structures and how to recruit 
experienced foster carers to 
join Kent Fostering.

Fostering review 
Team Manager

TARGET 8: Foster carers are to receive the support and supervision that they need to care properly for the children that are placed with them; 
supervision and support to foster carers. (NMS 3.8, 21.1, 21.10, 21.12)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Head of 
Fostering

To increase support to 
children and young 
people through the life-
long links pilot.

Centralised fostering to 
support life-long links through 
providing details of children 
matched for permanence at 
the fostering panel. Training 
and awareness will be 
provided while raising 
awareness with foster carers 
and fostering staff.

March 2019

Dawn Walsh, 
county manager 
for family group 
conferencing

This will be measured 
through the working group 
meeting, attended by the 
head of fostering.

To achieve 80 
children to be part of 
the project as part of 
year 2 of the pilot 
(2018-2019).

To increase the 
placement stability and 
reduce numbers of 
moves for children 
coming into care by 
offering additional 
support to foster carers. 
Alongside improving the 
retention of Kent 
County Council in 
house foster carers 
through the provision of 
additional support.

To continue to provide an 
offer to foster carers for 
increasing placement stability 
through the following options 
for additional support:
The use of outdoor activity 
centers (Swattenden and 
Bewl water), for a programme 
day and residential weekends 
to provide foster carers a 
break and new opportunities 
for children in care.
- 5 hub families to be 

March 2019 Head of fostering 

Headteacher of 
Virtual School 
Kent

This will be measured 
through the fostering 
scorecard to achieve a 
reduction in the numbers of 
moves the children and 
young people will have 
between fostering 
placements.

This will be measured 
through the children and 
foster carers review 
feedback and joint working 

Improvement in 
placement stability 
and foster carer 
retention. 

Joint working with 
support and 
assessment teams 
to facilitate support 
groups and skills to 
foster course.

All Support social 

P
age 57



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes

Head of 
Fostering

recruited for the county to 
support 3-4 foster carers 
per area with complex 
young people and provide 
emergency and ongoing 
support.

- To provide crisis support 
to foster carers through 
the sense of belonging 
clinical psychologist.

- The senior practitioner 
recruited to the sense of 
belonging to provide 
additional support to 
foster carers to enhance 
placement stability.

- Collaborative working with 
early help to provide 
additional and direct 
support to children and 
corporate parenting to 
increase placement 
stability and learning from 
the West Kent pilot.

PDO

with independent review 
officers.

This will be measured 
through the fostering 
scorecard to reduce the 
number of foster carers 
leaving the service.

workers to attend a 
minimum of 1 
recruitment event 
per year. 

P
age 58



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Head of fostering

Manager of TPS

That there is an 
effective Out of Hours 
service for foster carers 
and an increase in the 
availability of 
emergency bed 
provisions and 
recruitment to 
assessment beds.

Develop a more stable and 
consistent emergency and 
assessment provision for 
children and young people to 
improve placement stability.

Early Help 

Increase in emergency bed 
provision.

Recruit one assessment 
bed foster carer for each 
fostering support team. (7 
for the county) 

To be measured by 
achieving an 
increase in an 
emergency and 
assessment 
provision to include 
OOH’s.
Foster carers feeling 
supported to provide 
children and young 
people in crisis a 
secure and 
supportive 
environment.

Target 9: Preparation for in house foster placement (NMS 11, 15.1, 15.2))

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Service 
managers

Team managers

Children are carefully 
matched to a foster 
placement and 
wherever possible given 
information about the 
foster carers before 
arrival.

Every foster carer has an up 
to date profile with 
photographs that can be 
printed off and given to 
children before the start of 
the placement.  Even in an 
emergency, the profile can be 
emailed to the placing social 
worker, to be shown to a child 
using current technology.

For all in 
house 
placements 

Head of fostering

Quality Assurance form to 
be used for all referrals to 
ensure appropriate 
information and matching 
recorded (oversight by 
Team Manager).

Carers to ask children 
whether they received 
carer’s profiles prior to 

To increase the use 
of carers profile for 
every placement. 

To improve the 
quality of matching 
placements. 

P
age 59



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
TPS

Review Skills to Foster 
Course and develop 
Kent specific pre-
approval training. 

From 9th April 2018 the Total 
Placement Service started a 
6-month pilot to undertake all 
planning and matching of in-
house fostering placements.

Central Fostering 
assessment Teams to review 
Skills to Foster training 

April 2018 – 
October 
2018

March 2019
Assessment 
Team Managers

placement. This to be 
recorded in carer’s 
supervision. 

To review the current pre-
approval training and update 
with Kent specific course. 

New pre-approval 
training to be 
designed for launch 
in January 2019.

Fostering team 
managers

Fostering social 
workers

Improve the 
performance for the 
completion of 
placement plans 
undertaken within 5 
working days. 

PDO

Carers are given full 
information about the 
child. 

The fostering service 
and foster carer 
contribute effectively to 
each child’s Placement 
Plan review and 
statutory review of the 
child’s care plan.

Referrals to be quality 
assured at point of referral 
and returned to children 
social workers if not of good 
quality.  

All Placement planning 
meetings are undertaken 
within the statutory 5 working 
days with the child / young 
person and parents present 
where appropriate.

Individual safe care plans are 
completed for every child at 

For every 
in-house 
placement 

Fostering social 
workers

Tracy Smith, Access to 
Resources Team Manager 
to support service by 
completing monthly auditing 
of referrals and timescales 
for placement arrangements 
meeting. 

Report to Child in Care 
meeting on outcome of 
audits and areas requiring 
improvement.  

Carers to be provided with a 
copy of the placement 

Safe Care plans are 
triangulated, quality 
assured and 
completed at the 
start of placement 

P
age 60



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcomes
Children’s social 
workers

placement arrangement 
meeting. 
All carers to receive copy of 
referral, risk assessment, 
delegated authority and 
placement arrangements 
form for each child placed in 
their care. 

Children’s social 
workers

planning meeting within 5 
days of the meeting being 
undertaken.

Feedback from IRO’s.

and updated to 
reflect any changes. 
To be shared with 
child, in an age 
appropriate way by 
their social worker. 

TARGET 10: Transition to Care Leavers Service. (NMS 12.1)

Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcome
Yearly 
transition 
joint training

Head of 
fostering

Kent Fostering Service 
to have comprehensive 
arrangements for 
preparing and 
supporting young 
people to make the 
transition to 
independence.

There is a clear policy for 
leaving care including 
Staying Put arrangements.  
This is detailed on Tri X and 
within the Fostering 
Handbook. 

Transitions workshop for 
foster carers and staff.

Service 
Manager 18plus 
Care Leavers 
service

Young people tracked from 
age 17.5 years by Care 
Leavers service to ensure 
transition at 18. 

Policy and update 
has been delivered to 
foster carers through 
updated training for 
all carers caring for 
children aged 16-18 
years.

A clear transition 
process for our 16-18 
young people, following 
their feedback that they 
are unclear about 
available options.  A 
clear process for young 
people, foster carers 
and social workers.

Continue to work with IRO 
service to ensure that the 
transition process for young 
people and foster carers is 
clearly recorded in their 
pathway plan.
Continue with a close 
working relationship with 
Catch 22 provider, for 
supported lodgings.  To link 

Service 
Managers

Head of Fostering to attend 
Catch 22 quarterly meetings, 
to ensure joint working and 
use of recruitment events.

Social workers and 
foster carers will 
have a clear checklist 
and plan for young 
people, including all 
the services and 
support options 
available.  Flowchart 
for processes and 
services to be 

P
age 61



Objective Action to be undertaken Timescales Lead Performance management Outcome
with recruitment of host 
providers, Catch22 to attend 
information events.
Staying Put Guidance and 
Leaflet for Foster Carers – 
June 2018.

Personal advisors to be 
allocated to young people at 
the age of 17 years to 
support and advise. 

Head of Service 
18 plus 

Head of 
Fostering

designed by Care 
Leavers Service. 

P
age 62



From: Roger Gough, Cabinet Member for Children, Young People and Education

Matt Dunkley, Corporate Director, Children, Young People & Education

To: Corporate Parenting Panel 19 July 2018

Subject: Report on the types of accommodation for Children in Care and 
Care Leavers

Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary:

Recommendation:

This report provides Members with an overview of the types of 
accommodation available for Children in Care and Care Leavers in 
Kent. 
 
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the 
report.  

1.0 Introduction.

1.1 The Corporate Parenting Panel requested more detailed information on the types of 
accommodation available to Children in Care and Care Leavers.  Kent currently has a 
range of accommodation options and these would be planned for in the Children’s Care 
Plan or the young person’s Pathway Plan. 

2.0 Types of accommodation

2.1 Shared accommodation

2.1.1 Shared accommodation for Children in Care (CIC) and Care Leavers covers a range of 
accommodation types used to accommodate predominately small groups of young 
people. These properties are spread across Kent, so that Care Leavers can access 
college, training or work and be in an area they want to live. Shared houses are no 
bigger than four bedrooms, the young people living there will have been matched to 
help them get on well together and each person will have their own bedroom and share 
the kitchen, lounge and bathroom(s). 

2.1.2 Shared houses can help young people to prepare for their future, and with the help of 
their personal advisor they can develop their independent living skills and learn to 
manage problems as they arise. Eligible young people are provided with a short-term 
occupation agreement.  This agreement will include a rental agreement to enable 
housing benefit to be claimed (where applicable). The tenant is self-supporting and has 
the skills/competencies to be able to live independently.

2.1.3 The average placement cost is £125 per week.

Page 63

Agenda Item 10



2.2 Safety Pod

2.2.1 The Safety Pod is temporary two/three bedroomed houses for young people that need 
emergency accommodation, the maximum period a young person is permitted to stay in 
this accommodation is 28 days. During this time a Personal Advisor, as well as the 
accommodation advisor will look to identify alternative accommodation for the young 
person and they are normally moved to new accommodation during the 28-day period. 
This accommodation has been used for vulnerable young people (including 
Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking Children (UASC)) from the age of 16.

2.2.2 The average placement cost is £120 per week.

2.3 Kent SAiFE - (Supported Accommodation in a family environment, also known as 
Supported Lodgings)

2.3.1 Kent SAiFE is a form of temporary supported accommodation with support provided by 
a host who is a private individual (or individuals) accommodating a young person/s in 
their home. This service provides accommodation and support for young people, so 
they can live within a family-type environment whilst acquiring the skills and emotional 
resilience necessary to live independently on their pathway, from care. 

2.3.2 The approved hosts within this scheme receive comprehensive training plus ongoing 
support and supervision from dedicated supported accommodation officers.

2.3.3 The average placement cost is £185-225 per week. This service is commissioned by 
Catch 22. 

2.4 Staying Put

2.4.1 Staying Put is where a Care Leaver continues to live with their foster carer after their 
18th birthday. Many young people have already been Staying Put in the past, but the 
law changed in May 2014 so all local authorities must support such arrangements if this 
is in the young person’s interests and those of the carer. Care Leavers can continue to 
live with people they know and who have supported them as they have grown up. It 
means that they do not have to leave their former foster carers until they are ready or 
are 21-years-old.  It can help young people to get into, or continue, in education and 
training whilst supporting them as they transition into adulthood. The average 
placement cost is £199.75 per week.

2.5 University accommodation

2.5.1 The University will assist in finding the first year’s accommodation.  This is usually on 
site (halls of residence) or near to the campus. After the first year, students will find their 
own accommodation, which may often include joining with others to share a property. 
The landlord or agent of these types of properties may want a deposit or ask for 
someone to be a guarantor for the rent, and the 18+ Service may be able to assist with 
these areas. Students often require accommodation during breaks which the 18+ 
Service will also help with. 

2.6 Living independently 

2.6.1 Living independently is a big step and usually the next stage for a Care Leaver who has 
been living in another accommodation option. As part of their Pathway Plan, a Personal 
Advisor will help Care Leavers prepare and move into independent accommodation 

Page 64



where they will hold a tenancy or occupancy agreement. The Personal Advisor will 
assist a Care Leaver with applications and bidding for social housing through one of the 
District Councils, or in identifying a private landlord who is able to offer safe, suitable 
accommodation.  They will also assist Care Leavers in planning and budgeting and 
using their setting up home allowance. 

2.6.2 The 18+ Service will provide a deposit and rent in advance where required and may be 
able to act as a rent guarantor to a landlord if one is needed. As part of planning 
towards independence, all Care Leavers are provided with tenancy training and a 
certificate of completion. The setting up allowance supports with the first rent payment 
and any items needed by the young person in relation to independent living.  

2.6.3 The “Setting up Allowance” is £2,000.

2.7 Semi-independent accommodation

2.7.1 A shared living provision where an adult will be on-site from time-to-time. For some 
young people a Semi-independent placement may be an appropriate option and the 
length of time will vary dependent upon the needs of the young person, but all will have 
a level of support tailored to offer stability and meet the needs of a young person 
identified in their pathway plan.

2.7.2 The average placement cost is £368-432 per week.

2.8 Housing Related Support (HRS)

2.8.1 Currently this is a form of temporary supported accommodation for non-statutory young 
people who are not ready to live independently for a variety of reasons. This type of 
accommodation could be provided by an individual, company or voluntary organisation 
and will include onsite support (e.g. training flat, Foyer). The young person will also be 
expected to have access support and guidance to help them gain the skills they need to 
live independently. A new HRS Service which will be in place from 1st October 2018 and 
will prioritise statutory young people and 16-17 homeless vulnerable young people.

2.8.2 The average placement cost is £172 per week.

2.9 Reception Centres (UASC – only)

2.9.1 A Reception Centre is a place where newly arrived young people are supported for a 
maximum period of 6-8 weeks each; during this time their social care, education and 
health needs are assessed, and care plans put in place. They also receive orientation 
and independence skills, training and support. Kent’s reception centre is Millbank in 
Ashford. The average placement cost is £974 per week.

2.10 Youth detention accommodation

2.10.1 A youth detention accommodation comprises of:

 A secure children’s home
 A secure training centre
 A young offenders institution

Page 65



3.0  Rent Guarantor Scheme

3.1 The Care Leavers Service will begin a 12-month pilot starting on 1st July 2018 and this 
will accept applications from all eligible Care Leavers to a maximum of 25 young 
people. The aim will be to build the scheme in subsequent years, to be accessed by a 
larger cohort of young people and the learning underpin a wider policy change in 2019. 

3.2 Kent’s pilot scheme is open to all Care Leavers, to give a more realistic test in the pilot 
of financial risk but equally to ensure this offer can be accessed by our most vulnerable 
young people, who are likely to have more restricted access to appropriate 
accommodation. The aim of the pilot is to open up more availability for our care Leavers 
in the private rental market.  

3.3 The agreement for KCC to act as a guarantor, will be given by the Head of Service for 
18plus Care Leavers, who will have overall responsibility for the tracking and monitoring 
of financial implications.  

Page 66



4.0 Data

4.1 Accommodation types and numbers of Care Leavers
With parents or relatives 164
Hospital - Non-Mental Health 1

Mental Health Based Accommodation 12
Residential Care Home (Only relates to placements made by the disability service) 3
Residential Educational Setting (Only relates to placements made by the disability 
service) 4
Family Centre/Mother and Baby Unit (Housing Related Support Placements that 
provide a mother and baby provision. i.e. Cantercare, Canterbury and Life Housing, 
Dartford) 1
Supported Accommodation (Semi-Independent Provider placements, i.e. My life, 
4CSR, Blue Diamond) 111

Supported lodgings (SLOD placement via Catch 22 contract) 63
Gone Abroad 1

Ordinary lodgings (Lodgings in a privately-owned property) 10
Residence Not Known 98
Foyers (This category includes all Housing Related Support Providers, (excluding 
mother and baby providers under D i.e. Trinity Foyer Maidstone, Belgic Court Ashford, 
YMCA Dartford) 16

KCC Contracted accommodation (self-supporting - Shared housing through 
contracted property provider, Ready Homes and outgoing provider S&CC.  This is 
predominantly ACL and UASC with a small number of citizen Care Leavers) 515
KCC Contracted accommodation (with floating support - as above but where the 
floating support element is commissioned separately to the placement) 4

Private Rented (self-supporting -private rented accommodation and 2nd/3rd University 
accommodation that is privately rented - does not include social housing) 163
Private Rented (with floating support -as above but where the floating support element 
is commissioned separately to the placement) 2
Social Housing (self-supporting- accommodation provided by a housing association 
through a district council) 107
Social Housing (with floating support- as above but where the floating support element 
is commissioned separately to the placement) 5

Emergency accommodation (Short term emergency accommodation) 9

Bed and breakfast (Categorised as unsuitable.  To include B&B accommodation where 
the Care Leaver is temporarily placed by a District Council prior to moving to social 
housing) 2
In custody (Categorised as unsuitable) 32
Homeless (Categorised as unsuitable – to include sofa surfing where any stay is short-
term temporary) 38
Other accommodation (To include halls of residence during first year of university) 18
With Former foster carers (Staying put placement via Catch 22 contract) 95
Young Person transition into the Care Leavers Service 40
Grand Total 1514

Page 67



5.0 Children in Care

5.1 Accommodation types and numbers of children placed

Placement type CIC
Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) 234
Placement with other foster carer- long term fostering 44
Placement with other foster carer - not long term or FFA 190
KCC Foster Care 956
Placement with other foster carer- long term fostering 300
Placement with other foster carer who is also an approved adopter- FFA 6
Placement with other foster carer - not long term or FFA 650
KCC Residential 25
Residential accommodation 24
Children’s Homes 1
Leaving Care 143
Residential accommodation 30
Independent living 113
Other 27
Children’s Homes 8
NHS/Health Trust 3
Family centre or mother and baby unit 1
Young Offender Institution or prison 7
All Residential schools 4
Placement with other foster carer- long term fostering 1
Placement with other foster carer - not long term or FFA 3
Private and Voluntary 108
Residential accommodation 2
Secure unit 1
Children’s Homes 101
Residential care home 1
All Residential schools 3
Placed for Adoption 49
Placed for adoption with consent (under section 19 of the 2002 Act) with current foster 
carer 1
Placed for adoption with placement order (under section 21 of the 2002 Act) with 
current foster carer 5
Placed for adoption with placement order (under section 21 of the 2002 Act) not with 
current foster carer 43
Placed with Parents 16
Placed with own parents 16
Relatives and Friends 49
Foster placement with relative or friend- long term 26
Foster placement with relative or friend- not long term or FFA 23
Grand Total 1607

Page 68



6.0 Conclusion 

6.1 Kent has been developing its Leaving Care Service and associated accommodation 
offer through the following work: 

 Expanding the level of Personal Advisor support within the Leaving Care Service 
and recruited a permanent group of Team Managers and a permanent Head of 
Service to lead on the development of the service. Two additional Service Managers 
have also been appointed with a strategic lead for Transition and UASC. 

 Children in foster care have the option to remain in a staying put arrangement and 
young people in shared accommodation can remain as Care Leavers (shared 
accommodation is a sub category of P2 independent living which is managed by the 
accommodation Service).

 Reviewed and recommissioned the Supported Lodgings Service

 Brought the Housing Related Support Services for young people into the Children’s 
Commissioning Unit to ensure an interface with the other leaving care services 
available.

 Developed a Safety Pod offer.

 Agreed with all 12 District and Borough Councils a Joint homeless protocol for 
16/17-year olds

 Increased the number of Citizen children requesting shared accommodation. This 
offer has been developed in response to a request by the Young Adult Council 
(YAC) and the takeover challenge day held in November 2016. 

     7        Recommendations

8. Background documents:  none 

9. Contact details:

Lead Officer
Caroline Smith
Interim Assistant Director, Corporate Parenting
03000 415091
caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk 

   

5.     Recommendations:
Members of the Corporate Parenting Panel are asked to NOTE the accommodation 
types offered for our Children in Care and Care Leavers. 

Page 69

mailto:caroline.smith@kent.gov.uk


  Lead Director
Sarah Hammond

 Interim Director of Specialist Children’s Services
 03000 411488

Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk 

Page 70

mailto:Sarah.Hammond@kent.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 1 June 2018
	CPP Report - 1JUN18

	6 Challenge Card update - Lifelong Links
	7 Verbal Update by Cabinet Member
	8 Performance Scorecard for Children in Care
	item 7 Appx CIC Performance Report - May 2018

	9 The National Fostering Stocktake - Foster Care in England:  a review for the Department for Education by Sir Martin Narey and Mark Owers - February 2018, and the County Council's Fostering Service Business Plan, 2018 - 2019
	item 8ii - Fostering Business Plan 2018

	10 Report on the types of accommodation for Children in Care and Care Leavers

